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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with respect to the financial
condition, results of operations and business of Avnet, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Avnet” or the “Company”). You can
find many of these statements by looking for words like “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “should,” “will,”
“may,” “estimates” or similar expressions in this Report or in documents incorporated by reference in this Report.
These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties. Factors that
may cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, the following:
• A technology industry down-cycle, particularly in the semiconductor sector, would adversely affect Avnet’s
expected operating results.
• Competitive margin pressures among distributors of electronic components and computer products may
increase significantly through increased competition for existing customers or otherwise.
• General economic or business conditions, domestic and foreign, may be less favorable than management
expected, resulting in lower sales and profitability which can, in turn, impact the Company’s credit ratings,
debt covenant compliance and liquidity, as well as the Company’s ability to maintain existing unsecured
financing or to obtain new financing.
• Avnet may be adversely affected by the allocation of products by suppliers.
• Legislative or regulatory changes may adversely affect the businesses in which Avnet is engaged.
• Adverse changes may occur in the securities markets.
• Changes in interest rates and currency fluctuations may impact Avnet’s profit margins.
Although management believes that the plans and expectations reflected in or suggested by these forwardlooking statements are reasonable, management cannot assure you that the Company will achieve or realize these
plans and expectations. Because forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, actual results may
differ materially from those expressed or implied by them. Management cautions you not to place undue reliance on
these statements, which speak only as of the date of this Report.
Except as may be required by applicable law, Avnet assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)
April 1,
July 2,
2006
2005
(Thousands, except share
amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, less allowances of $90,504 and $85,079, respectively
Inventories
Other
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill (Notes 4 and 5)
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Borrowings due within one year (Note 6)
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less due within one year (Note 6)
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Shareholders’ equity (Notes 9 and 10):
Common stock $1.00 par; authorized 300,000,000 shares; issued 146,380,000 shares
and 120,771,000 shares, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Cumulative other comprehensive income (Note 9)
Treasury stock at cost, 6,046 shares and 5,231 shares, respectively
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 199,846
2,448,664
1,553,903
58,866
4,261,279
163,946
1,297,831
325,715
$6,048,771

$ 637,867
1,888,627
1,224,698
31,775
3,782,967
157,428
895,300
262,520
$5,098,215

$ 278,929
1,542,467
440,721
2,262,117
1,022,503
59,837
3,344,457

$ 61,298
1,296,713
359,507
1,717,518
1,183,195
100,469
3,001,182

146,380
120,771
1,001,672
569,638
1,428,728
1,283,028
127,799
123,705
(265)
(109)
2,704,314
2,097,033
$6,048,771 $5,098,215
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)
Third Quarters Ended
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
2006
2005
(Thousands, except per share data)

Sales
Cost of sales (Note 13)
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Restructuring and other charges (Note 13)
Integration costs (Note 13)
Operating income
Other (expense) income, net
Interest expense
Gain on sale of business lines (Note 4)
Debt extinguishment costs (Note 6)
Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income
Net earnings per share (Note 10):
Basic
Diluted
Shares used to compute net earnings per share (Note 10):
Basic
Diluted

$3,614,642 $2,758,259 $10,642,020 $8,241,415
3,142,588
2,393,691
9,284,897
7,153,357
472,054
364,568
1,357,123
1,088,058
334,645
286,037
1,014,867
852,478
10,945
—
33,901
—
4,584
—
20,301
—
121,880
78,531
288,054
235,580
(246)
1,860
4,591
2,247
(25,162)
(20,963)
(72,006)
(63,088)
10,950
—
10,950
—
—
—
(11,665)
—
107,422
59,428
219,924
174,739
36,255
18,280
74,224
53,750
$ 71,167 $ 41,148 $ 145,700 $ 120,989
$
$

0.49
0.48
146,373
147,413

$
$

0.34
0.34
120,694
121,414

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$
$

1.00
0.99
145,707
147,062

$
$

1.00
1.00
120,591
121,373
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Non-cash and other reconciling items:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Non-cash restructuring and other charges (Note 13)
Other, net (Note 11)
Changes in (net of effects from business acquisitions):
Receivables
Inventories
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other, net
Net cash flows (used for) provided from operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of notes in public offering, net of issuance costs (Note 6)
Repayment of notes (Note 6)
Proceeds from (repayments of) bank debt, net (Note 6)
Repayments of other debt, net (Note 6)
Other, net (Note 11)
Net cash flows provided from (used for) financing activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Cash proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions and investments, net (Note 4)
Cash proceeds from dispositions, net (Note 4)
Net cash flows used for investing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents:
— (decrease) increase
— at beginning of period
— at end of period
Additional cash flow information (Note 11)
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 145,700

$120,989

51,158
4,715
14,607
36,733

46,398
32,100
—
34,074

(219,211)
(89,774)
(7,934)
(94,725)
(158,731)

(11,538)
96,691
93,731
(28,266)
384,179

246,483
(256,325)
50,410
(583)
27,774
67,759

—
(89,589)
(3,152)
(169)
923
(91,987)

(38,175)
2,250
(321,837)
11,190
(346,572)
(477)

(22,257)
7,125
(1,098)
—
(16,230)
5,719

(438,021)
637,867
$ 199,846

281,681
312,667
$594,348
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements contain all
adjustments necessary, all of which are of a normal recurring nature, except for the acquisition and purchase price
allocation adjustments discussed in Note 4, the debt extinguishment costs discussed in Note 6 and the restructuring
and other charges and integration costs discussed in Note 13, to present fairly the Company’s financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 2, 2005.
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period financial statements to conform to the current year
presentation.
2. The results of operations for the third quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006 are not necessarily indicative
of the results to be expected for the full year.
3. Stock-based compensation
Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments (“SFAS 123R”), which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for StockBased Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be measured at fair
value and expensed in the consolidated statement of operations over the service period (generally the vesting period).
Upon adoption, the Company transitioned to SFAS 123R using the modified prospective application, whereby
compensation cost is only recognized in the consolidated statements of operations beginning with the first period that
SFAS 123R is effective and thereafter, with prior periods’ stock-based compensation for option and employee stock
purchase plan activity still presented on a pro forma basis. The Company continues to use the Black-Scholes option
valuation model to value stock options. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company recognized pre-tax
charges of $2,279,000 and $8,304,000, respectively, in the three and nine months ended April 1, 2006, associated
with the expensing of stock options and employee stock purchase plan activity. Additionally, the Company increased
its grant activity under other stock-based compensation programs (while decreasing the number of stock options
granted) that have always been expensed in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations, which yielded
incremental expense under these other programs amounting to $1,133,000 and $2,910,000, respectively, when
compared with the third quarter of fiscal 2005 and first nine months of fiscal 2005. In the third quarter of fiscal 2006,
the combination of these two changes resulting from the adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in incremental expenses of
$3,412,000 pre-tax (included in selling, general and administrative expenses), $2,260,000 after tax and $0.02 per
share on a diluted basis. In the first nine months of fiscal 2006, the incremental expense was $11,214,000 pre-tax,
$7,195,000 after tax and $0.05 per share on a diluted basis.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Reported and pro forma net income and earnings per share are as follows:
Third Quarters
Nine Months
Ended
Ended
April 1,
April 2,
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
2006
2005
(Thousands, except per share data)

Pre-tax stock-based compensation expense assuming fair value
method applied to all awards(1)
Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax
Net income, as reported
Fair value impact of employee stock compensation not reported in
net income, net of tax
Pro forma net income
Earnings per share:
Basic — as reported
Diluted — as reported
Basic — pro forma
Diluted — pro forma

$ 3,748
$ 2,483
$71,167

$ 3,489
$ 2,109
$41,148

$ 12,176
$ 7,815
$145,700

$ 11,494
$ 6,948
$120,989

—
$71,167

(1,938)
$39,210

—
$145,700

(6,437)
$114,552

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

0.49
0.48
0.49
0.48

0.34
0.34
0.32
0.32

1.00
0.99
1.00
0.99

1.00
1.00
0.95
0.94

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense for incentive stock, stock options, Employee Stock Purchase Plan
activity and directors’ compensation for the periods presented.
The fair value of options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model based on the
assumptions in the table below. The assumption for the expected life is based on evaluations of historical and
expected future employee exercise behavior. The risk-free interest rate is based on the US Treasury rates at the date
of grant with maturity dates approximately equal to the expected life at the grant date. The historical volatility of
Avnet’s stock is used as the basis for the volatility assumption.
Third Quarters Ended
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005

Expected life (years)
Risk-free interest rate
Weighted average volatility
Dividend yield

—
—
—
—

6.0
4.1%
43.8%
—

Nine Months
Ended
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005

6.0
4.1%
43.4%
—

6.0
3.5%
44.8%
—

There were no stock options granted during the third quarter of fiscal 2006. At April 1, 2006, the Company had
14,174,127 shares of common stock reserved for stock option and stock incentive programs.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Stock option plans
The Company has four stock option plans with shares available for grant at April 1, 2006 as follows:
Plan
1996

Minimum exercise price as
a percentage of fair
market value at date of
grant
Plan termination date
Shares available for grant at
April 1, 2006

100%
December 31, 2006

1997

1999

2003

85%
85%
85%
November 19, 2007 November 21, 2009 September 18, 2013

181,696

9,876

112,751

2,837,636

Option grants under all four plans have a contractual life of ten years. Option grants vest 25% on each
anniversary of the grant date, commencing with the first anniversary.
The following is a summary of the changes in outstanding options for the nine months ended April 1, 2006:

Shares

Outstanding at July 2, 2005
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at April 1, 2006
Exercisable at April 1, 2006

9,955,201
249,000
(1,406,977)
(376,166)
8,421,058
6,333,159

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

$ 20.28
24.77
18.05
22.51
20.69
21.58

68 months
102 months
44 months
61 months
63 months
53 months

$ 1,133,462
$ 1,133,462

The weighted-average grant-date fair values of share options granted during the first nine months of fiscal 2006
and 2005, were $11.86 and $8.40, respectively. The total intrinsic values of share options exercised during the first
nine months of fiscal 2006 and 2005, was $684,000 and $109,000, respectively.
The following is a summary of the changes in non-vested shares for the nine months ended April 1, 2006:

Shares

Non-vested shares at July 2, 2005
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at April 1, 2006

3,319,228
249,000
(1,340,384)
(139,945)
2,087,899

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

$

As of April 1, 2006, there was $18,038,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
awards granted under the option plans, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
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8.05
11.86
7.82
8.33
8.64

Table of Contents
AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
3.1 years. The total fair values of shares vested during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 and 2005 were $10,481,000 and $12,097,000,
respectively.
Cash received from option exercises during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 and 2005 totaled $25,401,000, and $1,646,000,
respectively. The impact of these cash receipts is included in Other, net, financing activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of
cash flows.
Employee stock purchase plan
The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), which was amended effective January 2006. Under the terms of the
amended ESPP, eligible employees of the Company are offered options to purchase shares of Avnet common stock at a price equal to 95% of
the fair market value on the last day, of each monthly offering period. Previously the plan offered employees options to purchase shares of
Avnet stock at a price equal to 85% of the fair market value on the first or last day, whichever was lower, of each monthly offering period. As a
result of these amended terms, Avnet is not required to record expense in the consolidated statements of operations related to the ESPP
subsequent to the second quarter of fiscal 2006. Therefore, the Company did not recognize any pre-tax compensation expense under the ESPP
plan during the third quarter of fiscal 2006. The pre-tax compensation expense recognized under the ESPP during the first nine months of fiscal
2006 with the adoption of SFAS 123R was $465,000.
The Company has a policy of repurchasing shares on the open market to satisfy shares purchased under the ESPP, and expects future
repurchases during fiscal 2006 to be less than repurchases made during fiscal 2005, based on current estimates of participation in the program.
During the first nine months of fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively, there were 147,126 and 222,783 shares of common stock issued under the
ESPP program.
Incentive stock
The Company has an Incentive Stock Program wherein, at April 1, 2006, a total of 1,327,331 shares were still available for award based
upon operating achievements. Delivery of incentive shares, and the associated compensation expense, is spread equally over a five-year period
and is subject to the employee’s continued employment by the Company. As of April 1, 2006, 603,436 shares previously awarded have not yet
been delivered. Pre-tax compensation expense associated with this program was $2,641,000 and $731,000, respectively, for the first nine
months of fiscal 2006 and 2005.
Performance shares
Beginning in fiscal 2006, eligible employees, including Avnet’s executive officers, may receive a portion of their long-term equity-based
incentive compensation through the performance share program under Avnet’s 2003 Stock Compensation Plan, which allows for the award of
stock based upon performance-based criteria (“Performance Shares”). These Performance Shares will be awarded under the terms of the
Company’s existing stock incentive plans. The Performance Shares will provide for payment to each grantee of a number of shares of Avnet’s
common stock at the end of a three-year period based upon the Company’s achievement of performance goals established by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors for each three-year period. These performance goals are based upon a three-year cumulative increase in
the Company’s absolute economic profit, as defined, over the prior three-year period and the increase in the Company’s economic profit
relative to the increase in the economic profit of a peer group of corporations. During the first nine months of fiscal 2006, the Company granted
194,530 performance shares to be awarded to participants in the Performance Share program in three years. The actual amount of Performance
Shares issued at the end of the three year period will be determined based upon the level of achievement of the defined performance goals.
During each of the first two years of this new program, participants may earn (vest in) a portion of the award granted, with the shares to be
issued at the end of the three-year period. During the third quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006, the Company recognized pre-tax
compensation expense associated with the Performance Shares of $500,000 and $1,000,000, respectively.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Outside director stock bonus plan
Prior to the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company had a program whereby non-employee directors were awarded shares equal to
$20,000 of Avnet common stock upon their re-election each year, as part of their director compensation package. Directors may elect to receive
this compensation in the form of common stock under the Outside Director Stock Bonus Plan or they may elect to defer their compensation to
be paid in common stock at a later date. Shares under this plan were issued in January of each year and the number of shares was calculated by
dividing $20,000 by the average of the high and low price of Avnet common stock on the first business day of January. During the second
quarter of fiscal 2006, this plan was amended such that directors are awarded shares equal to $75,000 effective with the January 2006 award.
The increase in the value of shares awarded to directors of the Company was part of a change in director’s compensation, which also eliminated
the granting of options to the non-employee directors. As of April 1, 2006, 2,509 shares were reserved for issuance under this plan.
4. Acquisitions, divestitures and investments
On July 5, 2005, the Company acquired Memec Group Holdings Limited (“Memec”), a global distributor that markets and sells a
portfolio of semiconductor devices from industry-leading suppliers in addition to providing customers with engineering expertise and design
services. Memec, with sales of $2.28 billion for the twelve months ended July 4, 2005, is anticipated to be fully integrated into the Electronics
Marketing group (“EM”) of Avnet by the end of fiscal 2006, with a substantial portion of the integration having already been completed.
Purchase price
The consideration for the Memec acquisition consisted of stock and cash valued at approximately $506,647,000, including transaction
costs, plus the assumption of $239,960,000 of Memec’s net debt (debt less cash acquired). All but $27,343,000 of this acquired net debt was
repaid upon the closing of the acquisition. Under the terms of the purchase, Memec investors received 24,011,000 shares of Avnet common
stock plus $63,957,000 of cash. The shares of Avnet common stock were valued at $17.42 per share, which represents the five-day average
stock price beginning two days before the acquisition announcement on April 26, 2005.
Preliminary allocation of purchase price
The Memec acquisition is accounted for as a purchase business combination. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet at their estimated fair values as of July 5, 2005. A preliminary allocation of purchase price to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition is presented in the following table. This allocation is based upon a preliminary
valuation using management’s estimates and assumptions. Preliminary adjustments to record the acquired assets and liabilities at fair value
include: (1) write-offs or write-downs in the value of certain Memec information technology assets, including financial information systems,
that were made redundant in the combined Memec and Avnet business through the continued use of Avnet’s existing systems; (2) the writedown of certain Memec inventory lines to estimated net realizable value as of the acquisition date based on anticipated demand, supplier return
and stock rotation privileges, age analysis, and other known factors that existed as of the acquisition date; (3) write-downs in fair value of
Memec owned facilities, the fair value of which was based upon management’s estimates of the current market values and possible selling
price, net of selling costs for the facilities; and (4) recognition of other contractual obligations that will not provide any on-going benefit to the
combined business. In addition, Memec historically placed valuation allowances on certain of its otherwise realizable deferred tax assets.
Following the acquisition, Avnet analyzed these assets and reversed valuation allowances for certain of the acquired deferred tax assets that
management deemed realizable in the combined business.
In addition to the items discussed above, the assets and liabilities in the following table include preliminary estimates of liabilities
recorded for actions taken as a result of plans to integrate the acquired operations into Avnet’s existing operations. Purchase accounting
adjustments for such activities include: (1) severance costs for Memec
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
workforce reductions; (2) lease commitments of leased facilities that will no longer be used; (3) write-offs or writedowns in value of certain fixed assets and leasehold improvements that will have limited or no use in the combined
business as a result of the facilities being exited; and (4) commitments related to other contractual obligations (see
Preliminary acquisition-related exit activity accounted for in purchase accounting included in this Note 4). The
allocations of purchase price discussed herein are preliminary as management completes its evaluation of the assets
and liabilities acquired and finalizes the actions that will be taken and the charges associated with the integration of
Memec into Avnet’s operations. The Company expects all adjustments will be completed within the purchase price
allocation period, which is generally within one year of the acquisition date.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company completed its valuation of identifiable intangible assets that
resulted from the Memec acquisition. The Company allocated $22,600,000 of purchase price to intangible assets
relating to customer relationships, which management estimates have a life of ten years, and $3,800,000 to intangible
assets associated with the Memec tradename, which management estimates have a life of two years. In addition, the
Company recorded $3,120,000 of amortization ($1,695,000 for customer relationships and $1,425,000 for
tradename) during the third quarter of fiscal 2006, which represents nine months of intangible asset amortization
from the date of acquisition. Amortization expense for the next five years is estimated to be $4,160,000 in fiscal
2007, and $2,260,000 in each of fiscal 2008 through 2011. These identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill
are included in other long-term assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at April 1, 2006.
A portion of the goodwill generated by the Memec acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes,
although the Company has not yet quantified the deductible portion.
July 5, 2005
(Thousands)

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets acquired
Current liabilities, excluding current portion of long-term debt
Long-term liabilities
Total debt
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired
Cash acquired
Debt assumed
Purchase price and debt assumed, net of cash acquired

$ 701,310
18,772
26,400
398,112
94,341
1,238,935
427,245
12,700
27,343
467,288
$ 771,647
(52,383)
27,343
$ 746,607

The acquisition of Memec has expanded EM’s operations in each of the three major economic regions. The
combination of Memec’s Asian operations with Avnet’s industry-leading position, based on sales, in the Asia region
has provided Avnet with a stronger position in this key growth region. Memec’s already established position in
Japan — the only U.S.-based distributor with such a presence in the Japanese market — also represents an
opportunity by providing entry into this major electronic component marketplace. Because Memec’s operations and
business model was similar to Avnet’s, management has been able to achieve significant operating expense synergies
through the integration efforts which are substantially complete, with much of the synergies already realized by the
end of the third quarter of fiscal 2006 and the remaining synergy benefits expected to be realized as
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
the remaining integration efforts are completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. The combination of these factors
are the drivers behind the excess of purchase price paid over the value of assets and liabilities acquired.
Preliminary acquisition-related exit activity accounted for in purchase accounting
As a result of the acquisition, the Company established and approved plans to integrate the acquired operations
into all three regions of the Company’s EM operations, for which the Company recorded $66,586,000 in preliminary
exit-related purchase accounting adjustments during the nine months of fiscal 2006. These purchase accounting
adjustments consist primarily of severance for Memec workforce reductions, non-cancelable lease commitments and
lease termination charges for leased facilities, and other contract termination costs associated with the exit activities.
The following table summarizes the reserves related to exit activities that have been preliminarily established
through purchase accounting and the related activity that has occurred during the nine months of fiscal 2006:
Severance
Reserves

Purchase accounting adjustments
Amounts utilized
Other, principally foreign currency translation
Balance at April 1, 2006

$ 32,573
(29,024)
(58)
$ 3,491

Facility Exit
Reserves/
Write-downs
Other
(Thousands)

$

29,124
(16,513)
39
$ 12,650

$ 4,889
(1,544)
11
$ 3,356

Total

$ 66,586
(47,081)
(8)
$ 19,497

Total amounts utilized for exit-related activities during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 consisted of
$38,676,000 in cash payments and $8,405,000 in non-cash write-downs.
The purchase accounting reserves established for severance are for reductions of workforce acquired from
Memec relating to over 700 personnel primarily in the Americas and EMEA regions, including reductions in senior
management, administrative, finance and certain operational functions. These reductions are based on management’s
assessment of redundant Memec positions compared with existing Avnet positions and are driven primarily by
completed and current consolidations of Memec facilities into Avnet facilities. Severance reserves, particularly those
estimated to date for the EMEA region, may be adjusted during the purchase price allocation period because these
costs are subject to local regulations and approvals.
The costs associated with the consolidation of over 60 Memec facilities are presented in Facility Exit
Reserves/Write-downs in the table above and include estimated future payments for non-cancelable leases, early
lease termination costs, and write-downs or write-offs of Memec owned assets in these facilities, including
capitalized equipment and leasehold improvements. These actions relate primarily to facilities located in the
Americas and EMEA. These reserves are subject to adjustment based on final analyses of the ultimate liabilities.
The other reserves in the table above relate primarily to remaining commitments and termination charges related
to other contractual commitments of Memec that will no longer be of use in the combined business.
Estimated purchase accounting adjustments may change as the Company continues to execute its integration
plan, particularly as it relates to EMEA severance and facility exit costs. However, the Company expects to complete
all actions encompassed in the plan by the end of fiscal 2006. Cash payments for severance are expected to be
substantially paid out before the end of fiscal 2007, whereas reserves for other contractual commitments, particularly
for certain lease commitments, will extend into fiscal 2010.
Pro forma results
Unaudited pro forma financial information is presented below as if the acquisition of Memec occurred at the
beginning of fiscal 2005. The pro forma information presented below does not purport to present what actual results
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would have been had the acquisition in fact occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2005, nor does the information project
results for any future period. Pro forma financial information is not presented for fiscal 2006 because the acquisition
occurred on July 5, 2005, which was three days after the beginning of the Company’s fiscal year 2006. As a result,
the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006
effectively includes Memec’s results of operations for comparative purposes.
Pro Forma Results
Pro Forma Results
Third Quarter
Nine Months
Ended
Ended
April 2, 2005
April 2, 2005
(Thousands, except per share data)

Pro forma sales
Pro forma operating income
Pro forma net income
Pro forma diluted earnings per share

$
$

3,314,538
86,232
36,149
0.25

$
$

9,929,010
267,233
113,230
0.78

The combined results for Avnet and Memec for the third quarter and nine months ended April 2, 2005 were
adjusted for the following in order to create the pro forma results in the table above:
• $12,070,000 pre-tax, $7,996,000 after-tax, or $0.05 per diluted share, and $36,056,000 pre-tax, $23,922,000
after-tax, or $0.16 per diluted share, respectively, for the third quarter and nine months ended April 2, 2005 for
interest expense relating to Memec’s shareholder loans that were retired at acquisition through the issuance of
Avnet common stock;
• $5,531,000 pre-tax, $3,679,000 after-tax or $0.11 per diluted share for the nine months ended April 2, 2005 for
capitalized costs written off relating to Memec’s cancelled initial public offering and restructuring charges
incurred by Memec. There were no further capitalized costs incurred in the third quarter of fiscal 2005;
• $1,444,000 pre-tax, $957,000 after-tax, or $0.01 per diluted share, and $4,332,000 pre-tax, $2,875,000 aftertax, or $0.03 per diluted share, respectively, for the third quarter and nine months ended April 2, 2005 for
amortization relating to intangible assets and deferred financing costs for the shareholder loans that were
retired at acquisition; and
• the impact on pro forma diluted earnings per share of the 24.011 million shares of Avnet’s common stock
issued as part of the consideration.
Pro forma results above exclude any benefits that may result from the acquisition due to synergies that were
derived from the elimination of any duplicative costs. In addition, the pro forma results have not been adjusted to
remove the following Memec costs, which management considers to be non-recurring:
• $4,857,000 pre-tax, $3,218,000 after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, and $14,585,000 pre-tax, $9,681,000 aftertax, or $0.06 per diluted share, respectively, for the third quarter and nine months ended April 2, 2005, for
interest expense relating to Memec’s loan secured by receivables and term loans that were paid immediately
upon the close of the acquisition; and
• $2,400,000 pre-tax, $1,590,000 after-tax, or $0.01 per diluted share, and $9,500,000 pre-tax, $6,296,000 aftertax, or $0.04 per diluted share, respectively, for the third quarter and nine months ended April 2, 2005, for
selling, general and administrative costs relating to Memec’s non-recurring consulting and other project costs,
annual management fee, and other severance-related costs that are no longer incurred following the acquisition.
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Divestitures and investments
During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company completed the divestiture of two end-user business lines in
its TS Americas business. In January 2006, the Company sold its TS Americas end-user enterprise server and storage
business line to a value-added reseller for approximately $12 million. This business line sold various products and
services directly to end-users. The Company concurrently executed an exclusive distribution agreement whereby the
acquiring company will procure certain enterprise computer products under customary terms from Avnet for a fiveyear contract period.
In February 2006, the Company contributed cash and certain operating assets and liabilities of its TS Americas
end-user network solutions business line into a joint venture with Calence Inc. in exchange for an investment interest
in the joint venture, called Calence LLC. This business line provided network and related products and services
directly to customers and generated annual revenues of less than $200 million for Avnet. Avnet’s equity investment
in Calence LLC of $22,908,000 is being accounted for under the equity method, with this investment included in
other long-term assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
As a result of these divestitures, the Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $10,950,000 during the third quarter
and nine months ended April 1, 2006.
5. Goodwill
The following table presents the carrying amount of goodwill, by reportable segment, for the nine months ended
April 1, 2006:

Carrying value at July 2, 2005
Additions
Foreign currency translation
Carrying value at April 1, 2006

Electronics
Marketing

Technology
Solutions
(Thousands)

Total

$ 637,122
402,453
49
$1,039,624

$ 258,178
795
(766)
$ 258,207

$ 895,300
403,248
(717)
$1,297,831

The additions in EM primarily relate to the Memec acquisition and reflect purchase accounting adjustments
recorded during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 (see Note 4). The additions in EM also relate to the purchase of
shares formerly held by a minority interest holder in one of the Company’s Israeli subsidiaries. The additions in
Technology Solutions (“TS”) relate primarily to a final earnout payment made in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 to the
former owners of DNS Slovakia, which was acquired by Avnet in fiscal 2005.
6. External financing
Short-term debt consists of the following:
April 1,
July 2,
2006
2005
(Thousands)

8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006
Bank credit facilities
Other debt due within one year
Short-term debt

$143,675
134,141
1,113
$278,929

$

—
60,468
830
$61,298

Bank credit facilities consist of various committed and uncommitted lines of credit with financial institutions
utilized primarily to support the working capital requirements of foreign operations, including bank credit facilities in
Japan assumed as part of the acquisition of Memec (see Note 4). The weighted average interest rates on the bank
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credit facilities at April 1, 2006 and July 2, 2005 were 3.4% and 4.0%, respectively. Although interest rates
generally rose during the nine month period ended April 1, 2006, the weighted average rate at April 1, 2006 is lower
than at July 2, 2005 primarily due to the mix of outstanding borrowings amongst the Company’s different bank credit
facilities. Specifically, at April 1, 2006, more than 30% of borrowings on bank credit facilities were drawn on the
Japanese facility acquired with Memec in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The interest rates for borrowings under on
this facility average less than 1%.
As of July 2, 2005, the Company had an accounts receivable securitization program (the “Program”) with two
financial institutions that allowed the Company to sell, on a revolving basis, an undivided interest of up to
$350,000,000 in eligible U.S. receivables while retaining a subordinated interest in a portion of the receivables. At
July 2, 2005, the Program qualified for sale treatment under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140.
The Company had no drawings outstanding under the Program at July 2, 2005.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company amended the Program to, among other things, increase the
maximum amount available for borrowing from $350,000,000 to $450,000,000. In addition, the amended Program
now provides that drawings under the Program no longer qualify as off-balance sheet financing. As a result, the
receivables and related debt obligation will remain on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet when amounts are
drawn on the Program. The Program, as amended, has a one year term which expires in August 2006. There were no
drawings outstanding under the Program at April 1, 2006.
Long-term debt consists of the following:
April 1,
July 2,
2006
2005
(Thousands)

8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006
9 3 / 4 % Notes due February 15, 2008
6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015
2% Convertible Senior Debentures due March 15, 2034
Other long-term debt
Subtotal
Fair value adjustment for hedged 8.00% and 9 3 / 4 % Notes
Long-term debt

$

—
475,000
250,000
300,000
7,835
1,032,835
(10,332)
$1,022,503

$ 400,000
475,000
—
300,000
7,285
1,182,285
910
$1,183,195

As of July 2, 2005, the Company had an unsecured $350,000,000 credit facility with a syndicate of banks (the
“Credit Facility”), expiring in June 2007. During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company amended and
restated the Credit Facility to, among other things, increase the borrowing capacity from $350,000,000 to
$500,000,000, and increase the maximum amount of the total facility that can be used for letters of credit from
$75,000,000 to $100,000,000 (the “Amended Credit Facility”). In addition, the Amended Credit Facility has a fiveyear term that matures in October 2010. The Company may still select from various interest rate options, currencies
and maturities under the Amended Credit Facility. The Amended Credit Facility contains certain covenants, all of
which the Company was in compliance with as of April 1, 2006. At April 1, 2006, there was $2,400,000 drawn under
the Amended Credit Facility included in other long-term debt in the preceding table. There were no borrowings under
the Credit Facility at July 2, 2005.
In August 2005, the Company issued $250,000,000 of 6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015 (the “6% Notes”).
The proceeds from the offering, net of discount and underwriting fees, were $246,483,000. The Company used these
proceeds, plus cash and cash equivalents on hand, to fund the tender and repurchase of $250,000,000 of the
8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006 (the “8% Notes”), at a price of $1,045 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. In
addition, the Company also repurchased $4,095,000 of the 8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,038 per
$1,000 principal amount of Notes. As a result of the tender and repurchases, the Company incurred debt
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extinguishment costs of $11,665,000 pre-tax, $7,052,000 after tax or $0.05 per share on a diluted basis, relating
primarily to premiums and other transaction costs. In December 2005, the Company repurchased an additional
$2,230,000 of the 8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,026 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes.
The Company’s $300,000,000 of 2% Convertible Senior Debentures due March 15, 2034 (the “Debentures”) are
convertible into Avnet common stock at a rate of 29.5516 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of
Debentures. The Debentures are only convertible under certain circumstances, including if: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s common stock reaches $45.68 per share (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances) for a specified
period of time; (ii) the average trading price of the Debentures falls below a certain percentage of the conversion
value per Debenture for a specified period of time; (iii) the Company calls the Debentures for redemption; or
(iv) certain corporate transactions, as defined, occur. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver cash in lieu of
common stock as the Company made an irrevocable election in December 2004 to satisfy the principal portion of the
Debentures, if converted, in cash. The Company may redeem some or all of the Debentures for cash any time on or
after March 20, 2009 at the Debentures’ full principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Holders of the
Debentures may require the Company to purchase, in cash, all or a portion of the Debentures on March 15, 2009,
2014, 2019, 2024 and 2029, or upon a fundamental change, as defined, at the Debentures’ full principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any.
At July 2, 2005, the Company had two interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $400,000,000 in order
to hedge the change in fair value of the 8% Notes related to fluctuations in interest rates. These contracts were
classified as fair value hedges with a November 2006 maturity date. The interest rate swaps modified the Company’s
interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 8% Notes to a floating rate (6.4% at July 2,
2005) based on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their maturities. During the first quarter of fiscal
2006, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps which hedged the 8% Notes due to the repurchase of
$254,095,000 of the $400,000,000 8% Notes, as previously discussed. The termination of the swaps resulted in net
proceeds to the Company, of which, $1,273,000 was netted in debt extinguishment costs in the first quarter of fiscal
2006 based on the pro rata portion of the 8% Notes that were repurchased. The remaining proceeds of $764,000,
which represent the pro rata portion of the 8% Notes that were not repurchased, have been capitalized in other longterm debt and are being amortized over the maturity of the remaining 8% Notes.
The Company has three additional interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $300,000,000 in order to
hedge the change in fair value of the 9 3 / 4 % Notes due February 15, 2008 (the “9 3 / 4 % Notes”) related to
fluctuations in interest rates. These hedges are classified as fair value hedges and mature in February 2008. These
interest rate swaps modify the Company’s interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 9 3 / 4
% Notes to a floating rate (11.2% at April 1, 2006) based on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their
maturities.
The hedged fixed rate debt and the interest rate swaps are adjusted to current market values through interest
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company accounts for the hedges using the
shortcut method as defined under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities , as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138,
Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Due to the effectiveness of the hedges since
inception, the market value adjustments for the hedged debt and the interest rate swaps directly offset one another.
The fair value of the interest rate swaps at April 1, 2006 and July 2, 2005 was a liability of $10,332,000 and an asset
of $910,000, respectively, and is included in other long-term liabilities and other long-term assets, respectively, in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, included in long-term debt is a comparable fair value
adjustment decreasing long-term debt by $10,332,000 at April 1, 2006 and increasing long-term debt by $910,000 at
July 2, 2005.
7. Commitments and contingencies
From time to time, the Company may become liable with respect to pending and threatened litigation, tax,
environmental and other matters. The Company has been designated a potentially responsible party or has become
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aware of other potential claims against it in connection with environmental clean-ups at several sites. Based upon the
information known to date, the Company believes that it has appropriately reserved for its share of the costs of the
clean-ups and management does not anticipate that any contingent matters will have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.
8. Pension plan
The Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) covers substantially all domestic
employees. Components of net periodic pension costs during the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2006
and 2005 were as follows:
Third Quarters Ended
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Recognized net actuarial loss
Amortization of prior service credit
Net periodic pension costs

$ 3,791
3,543
(5,144)
1,129
(80)
$ 3,239

$ 3,341
3,515
(4,132)
336
(80)
$ 2,980

$ 11,373
10,629
(15,432)
3,387
(240)
$ 9,717

$ 10,023
10,545
(12,396)
1,008
(240)
$ 8,940

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company made contributions to the Plan totaling $58,638,000.
Management does not anticipate making any further contributions to the Plan during fiscal 2006.
9. Comprehensive income
Third Quarters Ended
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Total comprehensive income

$71,167
25,094
$96,261
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$ 41,148
(62,806)
$(21,658)

$145,700
4,094
$149,794

$120,989
71,733
$192,722
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10.

Earnings per share
Third Quarters Ended
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
2006
2005
(Thousands, except per share data)

Numerator:
Net income
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares for basic earnings per share
Net effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock awards
Weighted average common shares for diluted earnings per
share
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

$ 71,167

$ 41,148

$145,700

$120,989

146,373
1,040

120,694
720

145,707
1,355

120,591
782

147,413
$
0.49
$
0.48

121,414
$
0.34
$
0.34

147,062
$
1.00
$
0.99

121,373
$
1.00
$
1.00

The 4.5% Convertible Notes, which matured in September 2004, are excluded from the computation of earnings
per share in the nine months ended April 2, 2005 as the effects were antidilutive. The Debentures, due March 2034,
are also excluded from the computation of earnings per share for the quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006 as
a result of the Company’s election to satisfy the principal portion of the Debentures, if converted, in cash (see
Note 6). Shares issuable upon conversion of the Debentures were also excluded from the computation of earnings per
share in the third quarter and nine months ended April 2, 2005 because the contingent condition for their conversion
had not been met.
The effects of certain stock options and unvested stock awards are also excluded from the determination of the
weighted average common shares for diluted earnings per share in each of the periods presented as the effects were
antidilutive because the exercise price for the outstanding options exceeded the average market price for the
Company’s stock. Accordingly, in the third quarters of fiscal 2006 and 2005, the effects of 1,810,000 and
4,267,000 shares, respectively, are excluded from the computation above, all of which relate to options for which the
exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the Company’s common stock. In the first nine months
of fiscal 2006 and 2005, the effects of 2,091,000 and 5,948,000 shares, respectively, are excluded from the
computation above, all of which relate to options for which the exercise prices were greater than the average market
price of the Company’s common stock. In addition, the Performance Shares, which were issued during fiscal 2006,
are accounted for as contingently issuable shares in determining the impact on diluted earnings per share. For the
third quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006, the Performance Shares have been excluded from the
computation above because none of the necessary conditions for including contingently issuable shares in diluted
earnings per share have been met.
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11.

Additional cash flow information
Other non-cash and other reconciling items consist of the following:
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Provision for doubtful accounts
Stock-based compensation (Note 3)
Periodic pension costs (Note 8)
Gain on sale of business lines (Note 4)
Other, net

$ 24,536
12,176
9,717
(10,950)
1,254
$ 36,733

$23,440
763
8,940
—
931
$34,074

Other, net, cash flows from financing activities are comprised primarily of proceeds from the exercise of stock
options (see Note 3), including tax effects relating to stock-based compensation costs with the corresponding offset
in cash from operating activities.
Interest and income taxes paid in the nine months ended April 1, 2006 and April 2, 2005, respectively, were as
follows:
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Interest
Income taxes

$78,805
$23,302

$70,781
$14,586

Non-cash activity during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 that was a result of the Memec acquisition (see
Note 4) consisted of $418,206,000 of common stock issued as part of the consideration, $439,945,000 of liabilities
assumed and $27,343,000 of debt assumed.
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12.

Segment information
Third Quarters Ended
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Sales:
Electronics Marketing
Technology Solutions
Operating income (loss):
Electronics Marketing
Technology Solutions
Corporate
Restructuring and other charges and integration costs
(Note 13)
Incremental stock compensation (Note 3) and
amortization expense (Note 4)
Sales, by geographic area:
Americas(1)
EMEA(2)
Asia/Pacific(3)

$2,446,666
1,167,976
$3,614,642

$1,596,099
1,162,160
$2,758,259

$ 6,815,105
3,826,915
$ 10,642,020

$4,638,511
3,602,904
$8,241,415

$ 122,773
37,626
(15,018)
145,381

$

$

$ 167,813
110,283
(42,516)
235,580

61,520
31,739
(14,728)
78,531

284,258
125,458
(44,150)
365,566

(16,969)

—

(63,178)

—

(6,532)
$ 121,880

$

—
78,531

(14,334)
288,054

—
$ 235,580

$1,766,436
1,161,238
686,968
$3,614,642

$1,398,564
944,857
414,838
$2,758,259

$

$ 5,412,011
3,252,449
1,977,560
$ 10,642,020

$4,269,885
2,792,779
1,178,751
$8,241,415

(1) Included in sales for the third quarters ended April 1, 2006 and April 2, 2005 for the Americas region are
$1.55 billion and $1.25 billion, respectively, of sales related to the United States. Included in sales for the nine
months ended April 1, 2006 and April 2, 2005 for the Americas region are $4.77 billion and $3.85 billion,
respectively, of sales related to the United States.
(2) Included in sales for the third quarters ended April 1, 2006 and April 2, 2005 for the EMEA region are
$432,086,000 and $376,322,000, respectively, of sales related to Germany. Included in sales for the nine months
ended April 1, 2006 and April 2, 2005 for the EMEA region are $1.23 billion and $1.09 billion, respectively, of
sales related to Germany.
(3) Included in sales for the third quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006 for the Asia/Pacific region are
$185,806,000 and $608,697,000, respectively, of sales related to Hong Kong and $212,859,000 and
$547,422,000, respectively, of sales related to Singapore. Hong Kong and Singapore sales for the third quarter
and nine months ended April 2, 2005 were not a significant component of consolidated sales.
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April 1,
July 2,
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Assets:
Electronics Marketing
Technology Solutions
Corporate
Property, plant, and equipment, net, by geographic area
Americas(4)
EMEA(5)
Asia/Pacific

$4,550,574
1,365,312
132,885
$6,048,771

$3,158,530
1,357,884
581,801
$5,098,215

95,385
58,562
9,999
$ 163,946

$

95,706
52,690
9,032
$ 157,428

(4) Property, plant and equipment, net, for the Americas region as of April 1, 2006 and July 2, 2005 included
$94,228,000 and $94,641,000, respectively, related to the United States.
(5) Property, plant and equipment, net, for the EMEA region as of April 1, 2006 and July 2, 2005 included
$25,831,000 and $28,467,000, respectively, related to Germany and $13,324,000 and $14,192,000, respectively,
related to Belgium.
13.

Restructuring and other charges and integration costs

Fiscal 2006
During the nine months ended April 1,2006, the Company has incurred certain restructuring and other charges
and integration costs as a result of the acquisition of Memec on July 5, 2005 (see Note 4), which is discussed further
under Memec-related restructuring and other charges and integration costs. In addition, the Company has incurred
restructuring and other charges primarily relating to actions taken following the divestitures of certain TS business
lines in the Americas region, certain cost reduction actions taken by TS in the EMEA region and other items, which
are discussed further under Restructuring and other charges related to business divestitures and other actions. The
restructuring and other charges incurred for all of these activities totaled $12,385,000 pre-tax, $8,205,000 after-tax
and $0.06 per share on a diluted basis for the third quarter of fiscal 2006, and $42,878,000 pre-tax, $28,784,000 aftertax and $0.20 per share on a diluted basis for the nine months ended April 1, 2006. The following table summarizes
the restructuring and other charges incurred related to these broad groups of actions:
Third Quarter
Nine Months
Ended
Ended
April 1,
April 1,
2006
2006
(Thousands)

Memec-related
Business divestitures and other
Total restructuring and other charges

$
$

5,455(1) $
6,930
12,385
$

31,887(1)
10,991
42,878

(1) In the third quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006, $1,440,000 and $8,977,000 of the Memec-related
charges were included in cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Memec-related restructuring and other charges and integration costs
The acquired Memec business is being integrated into the Company’s existing EM operations in all three
regions. As a result of the acquisition integration efforts, the Company established and approved plans to restructure
certain of Avnet’s existing operations to accommodate the merger of Avnet and Memec.
The following table summarizes the activity associated with the fiscal 2006 restructuring and other charges
related to Memec (excluding $8,977,000 recorded in cost of sales as discussed below):

Fiscal 2006 pre-tax charges
Amounts utilized
Other, principally foreign currency translation
Balance at April 1, 2006

Severance
Costs

Facility
Exit Costs

$ 16,172
(10,611)
88
$ 5,649

$ 2,862
(773)
35
$ 2,124

IT-Related
Costs
(Thousands)

$ 2,382
(2,382)
—
$
—

Other

Total

$ 1,494
(1,163)
1
$ 332

$ 22,910
(14,929)
124
$ 8,105

The Memec-related restructuring and other charges incurred during the third quarter of fiscal 2006 totaled
$5,455,000 pre-tax ($4,015,000 which are included in the restructuring and other charges in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations and $1,440,000 related primarily to terminated inventory lines, which was
recorded in cost of sales as discussed below), $3,614,000 after-tax and $0.03 per share on a diluted basis. The third
quarter pre-tax charge of $4,015,000 (included in restructuring and other charges) consisted of $3,433,000 for
severance costs, $17,000 of facility exit costs (primarily non-cancelable lease commitments), $48,000 for the writedown of certain capitalized IT-related initiatives and $517,000 for other charges.
The restructuring and other charges incurred during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 totaled $31,887,000
pre-tax ($22,910,000 included in the preceding table and $8,977,000 recorded in cost of sales as discussed below),
$21,467,000 after-tax and $0.15 per share on a diluted basis. The pre-tax charges included inventory write-downs for
terminated lines amounting to $8,977,000. The remaining pre-tax charge of $22,910,000, which was included in
restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, included $16,172,000 for
severance costs, $2,862,000 of facility exit costs related primarily to remaining lease reserves on exited facilities,
$2,382,000 for the write-down of certain capitalized IT-related initiatives, primarily in the Americas, and $1,494,000
for other charges related primarily to other contractual obligations that will no longer be utilized in the combined
Avnet and Memec business.
The charge for terminated inventory lines related to a strategic decision during the first half of fiscal 2006 to exit
certain product lines within EM in the Americas. The charge in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was a result of similar
strategic decisions made in the EMEA region. The terminated lines were product lines that either Avnet management
or Avnet’s suppliers elected not to continue with the combined Avnet and Memec business. As a result, management
recorded a write-down of the related inventory on hand to fair market value due to the lack of contractual return
privileges when a line is terminated. Severance charges incurred during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 related to
work force reductions of over 250 personnel primarily in administrative and support functions in the EMEA and
Americas regions. The positions eliminated were Avnet personnel that were deemed redundant by management with
the merger of Memec into Avnet. The facility exit charges related to liabilities for remaining non-cancelable lease
obligations and the write-down of leasehold improvements and other property, plant and equipment relating to the
facilities being exited. The facilities, which supported administrative and support functions, and some sales functions,
were identified for consolidation based upon the termination of certain personnel discussed above and the relocation
of other personnel into other existing Avnet facilities. The IT-related charges resulted from management’s review of
certain capitalized systems and hardware as part of the integration effort. A substantial portion of this write-off,
which was recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, relates to mainframe hardware that was scrapped due to the
purchase of new, higher capacity hardware to handle the increased
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capacity needs with the addition of Memec. Similarly, certain capitalized IT assets were written off when they
became redundant either to other acquired systems or new systems under development in the first quarter of fiscal
2006 as a result of the acquisition of Memec. Other charges in the nine months ended April 1, 2006 related primarily
to certain other contractual obligations and contract termination charges.
Of the total amounts recorded to expense for the Memec-related restructuring activity during the nine months
ended April 1, 2006, $11,762,000 represented non-cash write-downs, which consisted primarily of the charge to cost
of sales for inventory write-downs and the write-down of IT and other fixed assets. The remaining Memec-related
charges in the nine months ended April 1, 2006 required or will require the use of cash, of which $12,157,000 was
paid during the nine months ended April 1, 2006.
As of April 1, 2006, remaining Memec-related reserves related to the restructuring actions taken in the first nine
months of fiscal 2006 total $8,105,000, of which $5,649,000 related to severance reserves, the majority of which
management expects to utilize by the end of fiscal 2006, facility exit costs of $2,124,000, the majority of which
management expects to utilize by fiscal 2010, and other costs of $332,000, the majority of which management
expects to utilize by fiscal 2007.
Also resulting from the Memec acquisition and its subsequent integration into Avnet, the Company incurred
certain costs during the third quarter of fiscal 2006, amounting to $4,584,000 pre-tax, $3,037,000 after tax or
$0.02 per share on a diluted basis. Integration costs incurred during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 totaled
$20,301,000 pre-tax, $13,824,000 after-tax and $0.09 per share on a diluted basis. The integration costs, particularly
in the first six months of fiscal 2006, related to incremental salary costs, primarily of Memec personnel, who were
retained by Avnet following the close of the acquisition, solely to assist in the integration of Memec’s IT systems,
administrative and logistics operations into those of Avnet. Generally, these identified personnel were retained for
nine months or less following the close of the acquisition. These personnel had no other meaningful
day-to-day operational responsibilities outside of the integration effort. Also included in integration costs are certain
professional fees, travel, meeting, marketing and communication costs that were incrementally incurred solely related
to the Memec integration efforts. Professional fees include primarily consulting and legal advice associated with the
efforts to merge the numerous legal entities that exist globally between the Avnet and Memec operations. Integration
costs are presented separately from selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of
operations. All integration costs recorded in fiscal 2006 represent amounts incurred and paid during the third quarter
and nine months ended April 1, 2006.
Restructuring and other charges related to business line divestitures and other actions
During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company divested its end-user business lines in TS Americas (see
Note 4). As a result, restructuring charges were incurred due to certain actions taken by the Company following these
divestitures. The Company also incurred restructuring costs and other charges relating to certain cost-cutting
measures and other actions taken by TS in the EMEA region in both the second and third quarters of fiscal 2006.
The following table summarizes the activity relating to the restructuring and other charges related to business
line divestitures and other actions taken during fiscal 2006:

Fiscal 2006 pre-tax charges
Amounts utilized
Other, principally foreign currency translation
Balance at April 1, 2006

23

Severance
Costs

Facility
Exit Costs
Other
(Thousands)

$ 2,893
(682)
4
$ 2,215

$ 4,853
(3,003)
2
$ 1,852

$ 184
(38)
(3)
$ 143

Total

$ 7,930
(3,723)
3
$ 4,210
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The restructuring and other charges incurred during the third quarter of fiscal 2006 totaled $6,930,000 pre-tax,
$4,591,000 after-tax and $0.03 per share on a diluted basis. The third quarter pre-tax charge of $6,930,000, which is
included in restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, consisted of
$1,751,000 for severance costs in the TS operations in the Americas and EMEA regions, facility exit costs in the
Americas and EMEA regions of TS totaling $1,923,000, and $3,256,000 for other charges relating primarily to the
termination of a UK-based pension plan.
The restructuring and other charges incurred during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 totaled $10,991,000
pre-tax ($7,930,000 included in the preceding table, and $3,061,000 relating to other charges and reversals of
previously recorded reserves discussed below), $7,317,000 after-tax and $0.05 per share on a diluted basis. The
year-to-date pre-tax charges, which are included in restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations, consisted of severance costs of $2,893,000 related to TS operations in the Americas and
EMEA regions, facility exit costs in the Americas and EMEA regions totaling $4,853,000, and $184,000 for other
charges. Not included in the table above are other charges totaling $3,179,000 pre-tax, the majority of which relates
to a curtailment charge resulting from a small UK-based pension plan that the Company elected to terminate. During
the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company also recorded a reversal of $118,000 for charges recorded in prior
fiscal years in TS EMEA (see Fiscal 2004 and 2003 reserve discussion in this Note 13).
The severance costs related primarily to severance and other termination benefit payments related to five
personnel in the TS Americas’ operations who were rendered redundant in Avnet’s ongoing business following the
divestiture of the end-user business lines during the third quarter of fiscal 2006. This included one management-level
employee whose primary responsibilities previously included the management of the divested business lines.
Severance charges in the first nine months of fiscal 2006 also include termination benefits for three personnel in the
TS EMEA operations who were identified as redundant based upon the realignment of certain job functions in that
region. The facility exit charges related to liabilities for remaining non-cancelable lease obligations and the writedown of facility-related property, plant and equipment. The impacted facilities were TS leased facilities in the
Americas that were rendered redundant with the divestitures discussed above, as well as certain TS leased facilities in
EMEA that were vacated as part of the realignments of personnel discussed above. Certain furniture, fixtures and
equipment in these facilities were also written off as part of these charges. Other charges in the nine months ended
April 1, 2006 related primarily to asset impairment charges recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 totaling
$2,671,000 for two owned but vacant facilities — one in EMEA and one in the Americas. The write-down to fair
value was based upon management’s estimates of the current market values and possible selling price, net of selling
costs, for these properties. Also included in other charges is the pension plan curtailment charge noted previously.
These restructuring and other charges related to business line divestitures and other actions, along with the
Memec-related restructuring charges discussed previously, are presented separately from selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Of the amounts recorded to expense for these
restructuring and other charges during the nine months ended April 1, 2006, $2,845,000 represented non-cash writedowns, which consisted primarily of the write-down to fair value of the owned facilities in EMEA and the Americas
and certain furniture, fixtures and equipment in leased facilities. The remaining charges in the nine months ended
April 1, 2006 required or will require the use of cash, of which $878,000 was paid during the nine months ended
April 1, 2006.
As of April 1, 2006, remaining reserves related to these restructuring and other actions taken in the first nine
months of fiscal 2006 total $4,210,000, of which $2,215,000 relates to severance reserves, the majority of which
management expects to utilize before the end of fiscal 2006, facility exit costs of $1,852,000, the majority of which
management expects to utilize by fiscal 2010, and other costs of $143,000, the majority of which management
expects to utilize by fiscal 2007.
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Fiscal 2004 and 2003
During fiscal 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded a number of restructuring charges which related to the
reorganization of operations in each of the three major regions of the world in which the Company operates,
generally taken in response to business conditions at the time of the charge and as part of the efforts of the Company
to return to the profitability levels enjoyed by the business prior to the industry and economic downturn that
commenced in fiscal 2001.
The following table summarizes the activity during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 in the remaining
accrued liability and reserve accounts in these prior year restructuring reserves:

Balance at July 2, 2005
Amounts utilized
Adjustments
Other, principally foreign currency translation
Balance at April 1, 2006

Severance
Costs

Facility
Exit Costs

$ 1,419
(594)
217
4
$ 1,046

$ 10,477
(3,382)
(85)
74
$ 7,084

IT-Related
Costs
(Thousands)

$

$

111
—
(108)
(3)
—

Other

Total

$ 351
(60)
—
—
$ 291

$12,358
(4,036)
24
75
$ 8,421

The Company expects to utilize the majority of the remaining reserves for severance costs by the end of fiscal
2006. The Company expects to utilize most of the remaining reserves for contractual lease commitments, shown
under Facility Exit Costs above, by the end of fiscal 2007, although a small portion of the remaining reserves relate
to lease payouts that extend as late as fiscal 2010. The other remaining reserves relate primarily to remaining
contractual commitments, the majority of which the Company expects to utilize during fiscal 2006.
Adjustments recorded during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 accumulated to $24,000 and are a result of
revised estimates of reserves recorded in prior fiscal years.
14.

Subsequent event

In April 2006, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the net assets of a small (approximately
$140 million of annualized sales) EM distributor of specialty radio frequency and optoelectronic products and related
services in EMEA. Avnet will retain a 16% investment in this business following the sale. Net proceeds received
from the sale of the majority ownership in this business were $20,375,000. The Company will record a loss on the
sale of this business in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. This loss has not yet been quantified.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
For a description of the Company’s critical accounting policies and an understanding of the significant factors
that influenced the Company’s performance during the quarters and nine months ended April 1, 2006 and April 2,
2005, this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”)
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, appearing in
Item 1 of this Report, as well as the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 2, 2005.
There are numerous references to the impact of foreign currency translation in the discussion of the Company’s
results of operations that follow. Over the past several years, the exchange rates between the US Dollar and many
foreign currencies, especially the Euro, have fluctuated significantly. For example, the US Dollar has weakened only
slightly against the Euro by approximately 1% when comparing the third quarter of fiscal 2006 to the second quarter
of fiscal 2006. However, on a year-over-year basis (third quarter fiscal 2006 compared to third quarter fiscal 2005),
the US Dollar has strengthened against the Euro by approximately 8%. When the stronger US Dollar exchange rates
of the current year are used to translate the results of operations of Avnet’s subsidiaries denominated in foreign
currencies, the resulting impact is a decrease, in US Dollars, of reported results. In the discussion that follows, this is
referred to as the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
In addition to disclosing financial results that are determined in accordance with US generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”), the Company also discloses certain non-GAAP financial information such as
income or expense items as adjusted for the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, as discussed
above. Management believes that providing this additional information is useful to the reader to better assess and
understand operating performance, especially when comparing results with previous periods or forecasting
performance for future periods, primarily because management typically monitors the business both including and
excluding these adjustments to GAAP results. Management also uses these non-GAAP measures to establish
operational goals and, in some cases, for measuring performance for compensation purposes.
As further discussed in the Overview below, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, Avnet completed the
acquisition of Memec Group Holdings Limited (“Memec”), a global distributor that markets and sells a portfolio of
semiconductor devices from industry-leading suppliers, in addition to providing customers with engineering
expertise and design services. Memec recorded sales of $2.28 billion in the twelve months prior to the July 5, 2005
close of the acquisition, which makes this Avnet’s largest acquisition to date based on sales. The consideration paid
for the Memec acquisition consisted of stock and cash valued at approximately $506.6 million, including transaction
costs, plus the assumption of $240.0 million of Memec’s net debt (debt less cash acquired). All but $27.3 million of
this acquired net debt was repaid upon the closing of the acquisition. Under the terms of the purchase, Memec
investors received 24.011 million shares of Avnet common stock plus $64.0 million of cash. The shares of Avnet
common stock were valued at $17.42 per share, which represents the five-day average stock price beginning two
days before the acquisition announcement on April 26, 2005.
Within this MD&A, management occasionally discusses certain prior year sales of Avnet combined with the
historical results of Memec for the corresponding period. Although the Memec acquisition is accounted for as a
purchase business combination and, therefore, the results of Memec are only included in Avnet’s results subsequent
to the July 5, 2005 close of the acquisition, management believes that comparative analysis of financial results to
historical periods, as if Memec were a part of Avnet’s operations, helps investors relate current year results to
historical periods prior to the close of the acquisition. Management uses similar pro forma data to analyze
performance for internal operational goal setting and performance management. Furthermore, the combined results
of Avnet and Memec in prior periods provide one of the bases by which management evaluates its achievement of
synergy targets resulting from the merger as discussed further herein. In the discussion that follows, mention of
Avnet and Memec or Electronics Marketing and Memec combined data is referred to as pro forma combined results.
Analysis of results and outlook on a non-GAAP basis should be used as a complement to, and in conjunction
with, data presented in accordance with GAAP.
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OVERVIEW
Organization
Avnet, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Avnet”) is the world’s largest industrial distributor, based
on sales, of electronic components, enterprise computer products and embedded subsystems. Avnet creates a vital
link in the technology supply chain that connects over 300 of the world’s leading electronic component and computer
product manufacturers and software developers as a single source for multiple products for a global customer base of
over 100,000 original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), contract manufacturers, original design manufacturers,
value-added resellers (“VARs”) and end-users. Avnet distributes electronic components, computer products and
software as received from its suppliers or with assembly or other value added by Avnet. Additionally, Avnet provides
engineering design, materials management and logistics services, system integration and configuration, and supply
chain advisory services.
The Company consists of two operating groups — Electronics Marketing (“EM”) and Technology Solutions
(“TS”) — each with operations in the three major economic regions of the world: the Americas, EMEA (Europe,
Middle East and Africa) and Asia/Pacific. A brief summary of each operating group is provided below:
• EM markets and sells semiconductors and interconnect, passive and electromechanical devices, and also offers
an array of value-added services to its customers, such as supply-chain management, engineering design,
inventory replenishment systems, connector and cable assembly and semiconductor programming. EM markets
and sells its products and services to a diverse customer base spread across end-markets including
communications, computer hardware and peripheral, industrial and manufacturing, medical equipment, and
military and aerospace. The previously discussed acquisition of Memec is being fully integrated into EM. As of
April 1, 2006, the integration efforts are nearing completion. EM has finalized the organizational structure
within each region and the Company has also completed the integration of all key information technology in all
regions, with the exception of the Memec systems in Japan, which will be fully converted to Avnet systems
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. Substantially all facility and personnel decisions have also been
completed, with the only remaining actions relating primarily to certain facility consolidations to be completed
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. The acquisition of Memec has provided for expansion of EM in each
of the three major economic regions as well as allowing Avnet to gain entry into the Japanese market, the only
major semiconductor market in which Avnet did not previously have a presence.
• TS markets and sells mid- to high-end servers, data storage, software and networking solutions, and the
services required to implement these solutions, to the VAR channel and enterprise computing customers.
TS also focuses on the worldwide OEM market for computing technology, system integrators and non-PC
OEMs that require embedded systems and solutions including engineering, product prototyping, integration
and other value-added services. During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company divested two TS end-user
business lines in the Americas. In January 2006, the Company sold its TS Americas enterprise server and
storage business line to a value-added reseller. The Company concurrently executed an exclusive distribution
agreement whereby the acquiring company will procure certain enterprise computer products under customary
terms from Avnet for a five-year contract period. In February 2006, the Company contributed cash and certain
operating assets and liabilities of its TS Americas end-user network solutions business line into a joint venture
with Calence Inc. in exchange for an investment interest in the joint venture, called Calence LLC. Because the
joint venture investment will be accounted for as an equity investment and not consolidated in Avnet’s
financial statements, the revenues and expenses associated with the divested business line are no longer part of
the TS operating results subsequent to the close of this transaction. The two business lines that were divested
during the third quarter of fiscal 2006 were not material to the overall sales and profitability of Avnet on a
consolidated basis.
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Results of Operations
Executive Summary
The acquisition of Memec on July 5, 2005 has had notable impacts on the financial results in fiscal 2006, including significant revenue
growth in the EM business and for Avnet as a whole, when compared with prior periods. The integration of Memec into Avnet’s ongoing
operations has also had a significant positive impact on the Company’s profitability in fiscal 2006. These impacts are further described in detail
throughout this MD&A.
Avnet’s consolidated sales of $3.61 billion in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 were up 31.1% from the third quarter of fiscal 2005 sales of
$2.76 billion. The EM operating group was the driver of the year-over-year growth largely as a result of the Memec acquisition. Consolidated
sales for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 were up 9.1% as compared with the Avnet and Memec pro forma combined sales in the third quarter of
fiscal 2005, which totaled $3.31 billion. See Sales for further detail of the prior year quarter including Memec’s sales on a pro forma basis. The
year-over-year increase represents the thirteenth consecutive quarter of year-over-year growth in consolidated sales. EM’s sales in the third
quarter of fiscal 2006 were up 53.3% over the prior year third quarter (up 13.7% on a pro forma combined basis). TS’s year-over-year sales
growth was essentially flat at 0.5% but up 2.8% excluding the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Sequentially, Avnet’s consolidated sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 decreased by 3.8% as compared with the second quarter of
fiscal 2006 sales of $3.76 billion. This sequential decline largely resulted from TS’ typical seasonal decline in sales of 22.2% as TS exited its
strong second fiscal quarter. In fact, TS posted record quarterly sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006, resulting from the typical calendaryear budgeting cycle of its primary customer base. However, the sequential decline was slightly more than expected due to softness in the third
fiscal quarter in some proprietary server lines and certain software license sales. The decrease in revenue in TS was mostly offset by better than
expected sequential growth in EM, most notably in the EMEA region which achieved 20.1% sequential growth as a result of its typically strong
March quarter.
Gross profit margin in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 of 13.1% increased sequentially from 12.3% in the second quarter of fiscal 2006
and decreased 16 basis points year-over-year as compared with 13.2% in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. One of the most significant factors
contributing to the sequential margin improvement is the shift in mix of sales between EM and TS. The higher margin EM business represented
67.7% of consolidated sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 as compared with 60.0% in the second quarter of fiscal 2006, as a result of the
record second quarter sales of TS followed by the typical seasonal fall off in the third quarter as discussed above. Also contributing to the
sequential gross profit margin improvement is the mix of TS sales in the most recent quarter. TS experienced sequential growth in percentage
of sales from higher margin storage products and industry standard servers and a smaller percentage of lower margin software license
agreements. EM’s gross profit margin improved slightly sequentially as well.
On a consolidated basis, operating profit margin improved both year-over-year and sequentially. Operating profit margin increased to
3.4% in the third quarter of fiscal 2006, from 2.8% in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 and from 2.5% in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. Both
operating groups contributed to the year-over-year increase in operating profit margin, with EM and TS reporting operating profit margins of
5.0% (an increase of 117 basis points) and 3.2% (an increase of 49 basis points), respectively, for the third quarter of fiscal 2006. Most notably,
EM grew operating income five times faster than sales on a pro forma combined basis, which is primarily the result of the Company’s success
to date in executing its integration strategy following the Memec acquisition. The integration is substantially complete with additional actions
required in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 for IT conversion in Japan and certain remaining facility consolidations. Management estimates
actions had been completed by the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2006 to remove over $125 million of annualized operating expenses from
the ongoing operations of the combined Avnet and Memec business. Management continues to believe that the full $150 million of annualized
synergies that were previously disclosed will be achieved by the Company by the end of fiscal 2006.
The 83 basis point sequential improvement in consolidated operating income margin was similarly driven primarily by EM. EM grew
revenue by 8.4%, operating income by 34.1% and operating profit margin by 96 basis points, sequentially, which was a result of the
combination of better than expected revenue growth and the synergies
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being generated from the successful integration of the Memec operations into EM’s operations. This was offset by the expected seasonal
decline in TS following its record second quarter. As a result, consolidated operating income dollars increased by 27.6% on a sequential basis.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company incurred restructuring and other charges and integration costs totaling $17.0 million
pre-tax ($1.4 million of which was included in cost of sales), $11.2 million after tax and $0.08 per share on a diluted basis, related primarily to
the integration of Memec and the restructuring of the existing business to accommodate the merger as well as certain actions taken by the
Company following the divestiture of two TS end-user business lines in the Americas and other actions. As a result of the TS business line
divestitures previously discussed, the Company recorded a gain on sale totaling $10.9 million pre-tax, $7.3 million after tax and $0.05 per share
on a diluted basis. The Company also recorded incremental amortization expense during the third quarter of $3.1 million pre-tax, $2.1 million
after tax and $0.01 per share on a diluted basis associated with the amortizable intangible assets recorded during the third quarter as a result of
acquisition of Memec. Additionally, the Company incurred incremental stock-based compensation costs during the third quarter of fiscal 2006
totaling $3.4 million pre-tax, $2.3 million after tax and $0.02 per share on a diluted basis associated with a change in accounting rules adopted
in fiscal 2006 and enhancement to other existing share-based compensation programs. Although these collective items negatively affected the
current quarter’s profitability, the Company still managed to grow third quarter operating income, income before taxes and net income on a
year-over-year basis.
Sales
The table below provides period sales for the Company and its operating groups, including comparative analysis of the Company’s sales
for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 with the Company’s sales for historical periods. For further comparative analysis, the table includes third
quarter fiscal 2005 data on a pro forma basis to include the sales of Memec:

Q3-Fiscal ’06

Avnet, Inc.
EM
TS
EM
Americas
EMEA
Asia
TS
Americas
EMEA
Asia
Totals by Region
Americas
EMEA
Asia

Q2-Fiscal ’06

$

3,614,642
2,446,666
1,167,976

$

3,759,112
2,257,326
1,501,786

$

976,250
845,932
624,484

$

931,286
704,426
621,614

$

790,186
315,306
62,484

$

$

1,766,436
1,161,238
686,968

$

Q3-Fiscal ’05
Sequential
Avnet-Memec
Change
Avnet
Pro Forma(1)
(Dollars in thousands)

Year Over Year Change
Avnet
Pro Forma

(3.8)%
8.4
(22.2)

$ 2,758,259
1,596,099
1,162,160

$

3,314,538
2,152,378
1,162,160

31.1%
53.3
0.5

9.1%
13.7
0.5

4.8%
20.1
0.5

$ 629,232
622,198
344,669

$

876,313
771,807
504,258

55.1%
36.0
81.2

11.4%
9.6
23.8

1,025,488
412,151
64,147

(22.9)%
(23.5)
(2.7)

$ 769,332
322,659
70,169

$

769,332
322,659
70,169

2.7%
(2.3)
(11.0)

2.7%
(2.3)
(11.0)

1,956,774
1,116,577
685,761

(9.2)%
4.0
0.2

$ 1,398,564
944,857
414,838

$

1,645,645
1,094,466
574,427

27.0%
22.9
65.6

7.9%
6.1
19.6

(1) The Avnet-Memec pro forma results in the table above reflect the combination of Avnet’s sales with Memec’s sales as provided in the
table below for the third quarter of fiscal 2005:
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Q3 Fiscal ’05
(Thousands)

Americas
EMEA
Asia
Memec total

$

$

247,081
149,609
159,589
556,279

Consolidated sales for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 were $3.61 billion, up $856.4 million, or 31.1%, over the third quarter of fiscal
2005. This was the thirteenth consecutive quarter of year-over-year improvement in quarterly sales. Including $556.3 million of Memec
historical sales in the third quarter of the prior year, the current quarter sales increased by 9.1% as compared with the pro forma combined sales
in Avnet’s third quarter fiscal 2005. The year-over-year increase in sales on a pro forma basis was 12.4% after adjusting for the translation
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. As further discussed below, the year-over-year consolidated sales growth was driven
primarily by growth at EM as TS sales remained relatively flat year-over-year. On a sequential basis, consolidated sales declined by
$144.5 million, or 3.8%, following the Company’s typically strong second fiscal quarter, particularly for TS. However, EM’s better than
expected sequential growth of 8.4% offset much of the seasonal decline in TS sales. The sequential decline in consolidated sales was
approximately 4.2% excluding the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
EM sales of $2.45 billion in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 were up $850.6 million, or 53.3%, compared with the prior year third quarter.
On a pro forma combined basis, EM sales increased $294.3 million, or 13.7%, year-over-year, indicating that although the acquisition of
Memec was a significant driver of the reported growth in sales, EM also experienced better than expected organic growth during the third
quarter of fiscal 2006. Management estimates EM sales on a year-over-year basis would have increased 58.5% (17.5% on a pro forma
combined basis), after removing the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Based on this year-over-year pro forma
combined performance, management believes the components supply chain continues to be in the midst of an up cycle. This trend is further
evidenced by EM’s sequential performance, which saw sales increase by $189.3 million, or 8.4%, over the second quarter of fiscal 2006. While
management expected sequential improvement in EM as the electronic components industry comes out of a typically slow period during the
holiday weeks at the end of December, the third quarter fiscal 2006 sales results exceeded expectations. Additionally, EM’s business continues
to exhibit positive trends in customer orders in all three regions as the Company moves into the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.
Geographically, EM sales improved over the second quarter of fiscal 2006 and year-over-year in all three regions. EM EMEA exhibited
the largest sequential growth at 20.1% (approximately 18.9% after removing the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates). The March quarter is traditionally a strong one for the EM business in EMEA but the sequential growth was stronger than anticipated,
bolstered by strength across EM’s core industrial market segments. The Americas region of EM yielded sequential sales growth of 4.8%,
driven by strong growth trends in the industrial, medical and military and aerospace segments. EM Asia had a stronger than normal seasonal
performance in the second quarter of fiscal 2006, driven by strong demand for digital consumer products. As a result, the sequential growth of
0.5% in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was in line with expectations. On a year-over-year basis, EM Asia experienced the strongest sales
growth at 81.2% on a reported basis and 23.8% on a pro forma combined basis. EM EMEA grew 36.0% (9.6% on a pro forma combined basis),
and the Americas grew 55.1% (11.4% on a pro forma combined basis) year-over-year. The strong growth in year-over-year pro forma
combined sales in all regions of EM indicates that Avnet has managed to retain substantially all of the sales it acquired from Memec.
TS reported sales of $1.17 billion in the third quarter of fiscal 2006, up $5.8 million, or 0.5%, when compared to the third quarter of fiscal
2005. Management estimates that the year-over-year increase would have been 2.8%, after excluding the translation impact of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. TS sales decreased sequentially by $333.8 million, or 22.2%, from the record quarterly sales of $1.50 billion
recorded by TS in its typical seasonally strong second fiscal quarter. While a seasonal decline in TS sales in the March quarter was expected,
the third quarter of fiscal 2006 decline was slightly more than management anticipated due primarily to softness in some proprietary server
lines and certain software license agreements.
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On a regional basis, TS experienced declines in sequential sales in each of the three geographic regions in which
it operates and declines in EMEA and Asia on a year-over-year basis. The Americas region posted a
year-over-year increase in sales for TS at $20.9 million, which equates to 2.7% year-over-year growth. The primary
contributor to the year-over-year sales growth at TS in the Americas was strength in the enterprise focused Partner
Solutions business. This strength offset the minimal negative year-over-year impact on sales of the divestiture of two
TS end-user business lines in the Americas during the third quarter of fiscal 2006 (see Organization in this MD&A
for further discussion of these divestitures). The TS sales in the EMEA region declined year-over-year by 2.3%, or
$7.4 million. Excluding the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, the EMEA region
year-over-year sales increased by an estimated 6.2%, as the Partner Solutions business in the EMEA region also
continued to show strength on a year-over-year basis. The Asia region, which is typically a much smaller portion of
the global results of TS, posted a year-over-year percentage decrease of 11.0%, or $7.7 million.
On an overall regional basis, the EMEA and Asia regions both grew sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 on
both a year-over-year basis and on a sequential basis. The Americas region declined on a sequential basis as
TS constitutes a larger percentage of sales in the Americas region than in the other regions. The Americas, EMEA
and Asia regions constituted 48.9%, 32.1% and 19.0%, respectively, of Avnet’s consolidated sales in the third quarter
of fiscal 2006. Asia has continued to be the most significant region for growth of Avnet’s overall business
year-over-year. The Asia region represented 15% of Avnet’s consolidated sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2005
(17.3% on a pro forma combined basis). The single biggest factor driving the growth in Asia was the Memec
acquisition, including the Japanese market, which was the only major electronic component market where Avnet did
not have a presence prior to the acquisition of Memec. However, organic growth year-over-year, particularly in the
electronics components markets, continues to be significant, as strong demand for digital consumer products
continues to drive consistent sales expansion. Management expects the Asia region will continue to be Avnet’s most
significant growth opportunity, with the enhancements Memec brought to Avnet’s already established position in the
Peoples’ Republic of China positioning Avnet well to continue to capitalize in this high growth region.
Consolidated sales for the nine months ended April 1, 2006 were $10.64 billion, up $2.4 billion, or 29.1%, over
sales of $8.24 billion in the first nine months of fiscal 2005. A significant portion of this year-over-year growth is
attributable to the acquisition of Memec. Memec’s consolidated sales for the nine months ended in March 2005 were
$1.69 billion. As a result, sales grew, on a pro forma combined basis, by $702.1 million, or 7.1%, when comparing
the two nine month periods. The year-to-date growth is a result of growth within both operating groups. Specifically,
year-to-date sales for EM in fiscal 2006 were $6.82 billion, up $2.18 billion, or 46.9% over the same nine month
period in fiscal 2005. Year-to-date, EM fiscal 2006 sales have increased by $489.0 million, or 7.7%, as compared
with the same period in fiscal 2005 on a pro forma combined basis. Year-to-date sales for TS were $3.83 billion, up
$224.0 million, or 6.2%, as compared with sales of $3.60 billion for the first nine months of fiscal 2005. The factors
contributing to the growth of sales in both operating groups are consistent with the quarterly sales analysis discussed
above.
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margins
Consolidated gross profit was $472.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2006, up $107.5 million, or 29.5%, as
compared with the third quarter of fiscal 2005. This year-over-year increase was $18.9 million, or 4.2%, on a pro
forma combined basis. The gross profit in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 included a charge totaling $1.4 million (less
than 0.1 % of sales) to write-down certain inventory due primarily to supplier terminations. See Restructuring and
Other Charges and Integration Costs for further discussion of this charge. Gross profit margins, which were 13.1%
in the third quarter of fiscal 2006, were down by 16 basis points from the prior year third quarter gross profit margin
of 13.2%. However, gross profit margins increased by 77 basis points sequentially from 12.3% in the second quarter
of fiscal 2006. Both operating groups contributed to these trends in gross profit margins. On a year-over-year basis,
mix of business among regions contributed to the slight overall decline. Particularly, the continued
year-over-year growth in the Asia region as a percentage of Avnet’s consolidated operations tends to negatively
impact gross profit margins, as the business model in Asia typically yields lower gross profit margins, but also lower
operating expenses, than the other regions. Additionally, competitive pricing throughout the electronic component
industry serves to further erode gross profit margins on a year-over-year basis.
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On a sequential quarterly basis, gross profit margins were more significantly impacted by mix of business
between EM and TS. TS is typically a higher asset velocity business than EM, but is also a lower gross profit margin
business compared with EM. As a result, sequential improvement in quarterly gross profit margin is typical in
Avnet’s third fiscal quarter, as TS exits its seasonally strong December quarter, and the ratio of EM’s higher margin
sales to Avnet’s overall sales increases. EM’s sales as a percentage of consolidated sales increased sequentially from
60.0% in second quarter of fiscal 2006 to 67.7% in the third quarter of fiscal 2006. Additionally, during the third
quarter of fiscal 2006, TS experienced a sequential increase in its gross profit margins due primarily to softness in
certain software license sales, which carry a lower gross margin.
Consolidated gross profit for the first nine months of fiscal 2006 was $1.36 billion, representing a gross profit
margin of 12.8%. By comparison, consolidated gross profit in the first nine months of fiscal 2005 were $1.09 billion
and gross profit margins were 13.2%. The gross profit in the first nine months of fiscal 2006 also includes charges
totaling $8.9 million (0.1% of sales) to write-down certain inventory due primarily to supplier terminations. See
Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs for further discussion of these charges. The 45 basis point
year-over-year decline in year-to-date gross profit margins is similarly attributable to the mix of business and
competitive factors cited above in the quarterly gross margin analyses.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 were $334.6 million. This
represents an increase of $48.6 million, or 17.0%, as compared with selling, general and administrative expenses of
$286.0 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is a
direct result of the expansion of the overall business following the first quarter fiscal 2006 acquisition of Memec. On
a pro forma combined basis, selling, general and administrative expenses were $364.7 million in the third quarter of
fiscal 2005. Therefore, selling, general and administrative expenses have decreased by $30.0 million as compared
with the prior year third quarter adjusted to include Memec’s results. Further impacting this
year-over-year comparison is approximately $3.4 million (0.1% of sales) of incremental stock-based compensation
expense and $3.1 million (0.1% of sales) of incremental amortization expense associated with intangible assets, both
of which are further discussed below.
Selling, general and administrative expenses were 9.3% of consolidated sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2006,
which is a 111 basis point improvement over the 10.4% ratio in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of gross profit margins — another important metric that management
regularly monitors — also improved by 757 basis points, from 78.5% in the prior year third quarter to 70.9% in the
third quarter of fiscal 2006. Both of these metrics in the current quarter were impacted by the incremental stockbased compensation expense and the intangible asset amortization discussed below. The year-over-year improvement
in these metrics is largely a result of the actions taken associated with the Memec integration and the resulting
realization of operating expense synergies. Management has previously disclosed its expectation that approximately
$150 million of annualized operating expenses would be removed from the combined Avnet and Memec businesses
once the integration of Memec is completed. The integration efforts to date are progressing on schedule and
management estimates that actions to remove more than $150 million of annualized operating expenses will be
completed by the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. As the integration efforts are nearing completion,
management expects continued improvement in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of gross
profit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. As discussed further under Organization in this MD&A, the majority of the
remaining integration efforts relate to Japan’s IT conversion and certain facility consolidations which are expected to
be completed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. Management estimates that approximately $125 million in
annualized synergies were already achieved by the Company as of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2006.
In addition to cost savings realized through the integration of Memec into Avnet’s business, management also
continues its focus on operating efficiencies and cost savings through various value-based management initiatives.
As a result of these efforts and the expense reductions from the divestiture of the end-user business lines, TS also
managed to reduce its selling, general and administrative expenses in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 by nearly 6% as
compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2005, even though sales levels at TS remained relatively flat between the two
periods.
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The first quarter of fiscal 2006 represented the first period in which the Company was required to adopt the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R (“SFAS 123R”), Share-Based Payment.
SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
measured at fair value and expensed in the statement of operations. The impact of adopting SFAS 123R, coupled
with additional compensation expense associated with increased grants under some of the Company’s non-option,
stock-based compensation programs, resulted in $3.4 million of incremental expense during the third quarter of fiscal
2006 when compared with the third quarter of fiscal 2005. In the nine months ended April 1, 2006, the Company
recognized $11.2 million of incremental expense associated with stock-based compensation.
As a result of the acquisition of Memec, the Company identified a total of $26.4 million of amortizable
intangible assets. The Company allocated $22.6 million of the Memec purchase price to intangible assets associated
with acquired customer relationships and $3.8 million to intangible assets associated with the Memec tradename. The
customer relationship asset has been assigned a life of ten years and the tradename asset has been assigned a life of
two years. The asset values will be amortized on a straight-line basis over these identified lives. Because the
Company did not determine these values and record the amortizable intangible assets until the third quarter of fiscal
2006, the Company recorded cumulative amortization expense of $3.1 million in the third quarter, which represents
nine months of amortization expense from the date of acquisition.
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the first nine months of fiscal 2006 were $1.01 billion, or 9.5%
of consolidated sales, as compared with $852.5 million, or 10.3% of consolidated sales, in the first nine months of the
prior year. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 74.8% and 78.3%, respectively, of gross profit in the
first nine months of fiscal 2006 and 2005. While the growth in selling, general and administrative expenses
year-over-year is primarily a function of the Memec acquisition, the notable improvement in selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of sales and gross profits is a function of the same cost reduction efforts and
successful expense synergy realization through the Memec acquisition as discussed above.
Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs
During the nine months ended April 1, 2006, the Company has incurred certain restructuring and other charges
and integration costs as a result of the acquisition of Memec on July 5, 2005, which is discussed further under
Memec-related restructuring and other charges and integration costs. In addition, the Company has incurred
restructuring and other charges primarily relating to actions taken following the divestitures of certain TS end-user
business lines in the Americas region, certain cost reduction actions taken by TS in the EMEA region and other
items, which are discussed further under Restructuring and other charges related to business line divestitures and
other actions. The restructuring and other charges incurred for all of these activities totaled $12.4 million pre-tax,
$8.2 million after-tax and $0.06 per share on a diluted basis for the third quarter of fiscal 2006, and $42.9 million
pre-tax, $28.8 million after-tax and $0.20 per share on a diluted basis for the nine months ended April 1, 2006.
Memec-related restructuring and other charges and integration costs
The acquired Memec business is being integrated into the Company’s existing EM operations in all three
regions. As a result of the acquisition integration efforts, the Company established and approved plans to restructure
certain of Avnet’s existing operations to accommodate the integration of Memec into Avnet.
The Memec-related restructuring and other charges incurred during the third quarter of fiscal 2006 totaled
$5.4 million pre-tax ($4.0 million included in the restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations and $1.4 million related primarily to terminated inventory lines, which was recorded in cost
of sales as discussed below), $3.6 million after-tax and $0.03 per share on a diluted basis. The third quarter pre-tax
charge of $4.0 million consisted of $3.4 million for severance costs, $0.02 million of facility exit costs (primarily
non-cancelable lease commitments), $0.05 million for the write-down of certain capitalized IT-related initiatives and
$0.5 million for other charges.
The restructuring and other charges incurred during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 totaled $31.9 million
pre-tax, $21.5 million after-tax and $0.15 per share on a diluted basis. The pre-tax charges included inventory writedowns for terminated lines amounting to $9.0 million recorded in cost of sales as discussed below. The remaining
pre-tax charge of $22.9 million, which was included in restructuring and other charges in the accompanying
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consolidated statement of operations, included $16.2 million for severance costs, $2.8 million of facility exit costs
related primarily to remaining lease reserves on exited facilities, $2.4 million for the write-down of certain
capitalized IT-related initiatives, primarily in the Americas, and $1.5 million for other charges related primarily to
other contractual obligations that will no longer be utilized in the combined Avnet and Memec business.
The charge for terminated inventory lines related to a strategic decision during the first half of fiscal 2006 to exit
certain product lines within EM in the Americas. The charge in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was a result of similar
strategic decisions made in the EMEA region. The terminated lines were product lines that either Avnet management
or Avnet’s suppliers elected not to continue with the combined Avnet and Memec business. As a result, management
recorded a write-down of the related inventory on hand to fair market value due to the lack of contractual return
privileges when a line is terminated. Severance charges incurred during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 related to
work force reductions of over 250 personnel primarily in administrative and support functions in the EMEA and
Americas regions. The positions eliminated were Avnet personnel that were deemed redundant by management with
the integration of Memec into Avnet. The facility exit charges related to liabilities for remaining non-cancelable lease
obligations and the write-down of leasehold improvements and other property, plant and equipment relating to the
facilities being exited. The facilities, which supported administrative and support functions, and some sales functions,
were identified for consolidation based upon the termination of certain personnel discussed above and the relocation
of other personnel into other existing Avnet facilities. The IT-related charges resulted from management’s review of
certain capitalized systems and hardware as part of the integration effort. A substantial portion of this write-off,
which was recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, relates to mainframe hardware that was scrapped due to the
purchase of new, higher capacity hardware to handle the increased capacity needs with the addition of Memec.
Similarly, certain capitalized IT assets were written off when they became redundant either to other acquired systems
or new systems under development in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 as a result of the acquisition of Memec. Other
charges in the nine months ended April 1, 2006 related primarily to certain other contractual obligations and contract
termination charges.
Of the total amounts recorded to expense for the Memec-related restructuring activity during the nine months
ended April 1, 2006, $11.8 million represented non-cash write-downs, which consisted primarily of the charge to cost
of sales for inventory write-downs and the write-down of IT and other fixed assets. The remaining Memec-related
charges in the nine months ended April 1, 2006 required or will require the use of cash, of which $12.2 million was
paid during the nine months ended April 1, 2006.
As of April 1, 2006, remaining Memec-related reserves related to the restructuring actions taken in the first nine
months of fiscal 2006 total $8.1 million, of which $5.6 million related to severance reserves, the majority of which
management expects to utilize by the end of fiscal 2006, facility exit costs of $2.1 million, the majority of which
management expects to utilize by fiscal 2010, and other costs of $0.4 million, the majority of which management
expects to utilize by fiscal 2007.
Also resulting from the Memec acquisition and its subsequent integration into Avnet, the Company incurred
certain costs during the third quarter of fiscal 2006, amounting to $4.6 million pre-tax, $3.0 million after tax or $0.02
per share on a diluted basis. Integration costs incurred during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 totaled
$20.3 million pre-tax, $13.8 million after-tax and $0.09 per share on a diluted basis. The integration costs,
particularly in the first six months of fiscal 2006, related to incremental salary costs, primarily of Memec personnel,
who were retained following the close of the acquisition, solely to assist in the integration of Memec’s IT systems,
administrative and logistics operations into those of Avnet. Generally, these identified personnel were retained for
nine months or less following the close of the acquisition. These personnel had no other meaningful
day-to-day operational responsibilities outside of the integration efforts. Also included in integration costs are certain
professional fees, travel, meeting, marketing and communication costs that were incrementally incurred solely related
to the Memec integration efforts. Professional fees include primarily consulting and legal advice associated with the
efforts to merge the numerous legal entities that exist globally between the Avnet and Memec operations. Integration
costs are presented separately from selling, general and administrative expenses. All integration costs recorded in
fiscal 2006 represent amounts incurred and paid during the third quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006.
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Restructuring and other charges related to business line divestitures and other actions
During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company divested of its end-user business lines in TS Americas. As
a result, restructuring charges were incurred due to certain actions taken by the Company following these
divestitures. The Company also incurred restructuring costs and other charges relating to certain cost-cutting
measures and other actions taken by TS in the EMEA region in both the second and third quarters of fiscal 2006.
The restructuring and other charges incurred during the third quarter of fiscal 2006 totaled $6.9 million pre-tax,
$4.6 million after-tax and $0.03 per share on a diluted basis. The third quarter pre-tax charge of $6.9 million, which
is included in restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, consisted of
$1.7 million for severance costs in the TS operations in the Americas and EMEA regions, facility exit costs in the
Americas and EMEA regions of TS totaling $1.9 million, and $3.3 million for other charges relating primarily to the
termination of a UK-based pension plan.
The restructuring and other charges incurred during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 totaled $11.0 million
pre-tax, $7.3 million after-tax and $0.05 per share on a diluted basis. The year-to-date pre-tax charges, which are
included in restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, consisted of
severance costs of $2.9 million related to TS operations in the Americas and EMEA regions, facility exit costs in the
Americas and EMEA regions totaling $4.8 million, and $0.2 million for other charges. Other charges included
$3.2 million pre-tax, which relates primarily to a curtailment charge resulting from a small UK-based pension plan
that the Company elected to terminate. During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company also recorded a
reversal of $0.1 million for charges recorded in prior fiscal years in TS EMEA.
The severance costs related primarily to severance and other termination benefit payments related to five
personnel in the TS Americas’ operations who were rendered redundant in Avnet’s ongoing business following the
divestiture of the end-user business lines during the third quarter of fiscal 2006. This included one management-level
employee whose primary responsibilities previously included the management of the divested business lines.
Severance charges in the first nine months of fiscal 2006 also include termination benefits for three personnel in the
TS EMEA operations who were identified as redundant based upon the realignment of certain job functions in that
region. The facility exit charges related to liabilities for remaining non-cancelable lease obligations and the writedown of facility-related property, plant and equipment. The impacted facilities were TS leased facilities in the
Americas that were rendered redundant with the divestitures discussed above, as well as certain TS leased facilities in
EMEA that were vacated as part of the realignments of personnel discussed above. Certain furniture, fixtures and
equipment in these facilities were also written off as part of these charges. Other charges in the nine months ended
April 1, 2006 related primarily to asset impairment charges recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 totaling
$2.7 million for two owned but vacant facilities — one in EMEA and one in the Americas. The write-down to fair
value was based upon management’s estimates of the current market values and possible selling price, net of selling
costs, for these properties. Also included in other charges is the pension plan curtailment charge noted previously.
These restructuring and other charges related to business line divestitures and other actions, along with the
Memec-related restructuring charges discussed previously, are presented separately from selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Of the amounts recorded to expense for these
restructuring and other charges during the nine months ended April 1, 2006, $2.8 million represented non-cash writedowns, which consisted primarily of the write-down to fair value of the owned facilities in EMEA and the Americas
and certain furniture, fixtures and equipment in leased facilities. The remaining charges in the nine months ended
April 1, 2006 required or will require the use of cash, of which $0.9 million was paid during the nine months ended
April 1, 2006.
As of April 1, 2006, remaining reserves related to these restructuring and other actions taken in the first nine
months of fiscal 2006 total $4.2 million, of which $2.2 million relates to severance reserves, the majority of which
management expects to utilize before the end of fiscal 2006, facility exit costs of $1.9 million, the majority of which
management expects to utilize by fiscal 2010, and other costs of $0.1 million, the majority of which management
expects to utilize by fiscal 2007.
As of April 1, 2006, the Company also had certain reserves remaining related to restructuring actions taken in
earlier years. Total remaining reserves related to these actions were $8.4 million at the end of the third quarter of
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fiscal 2006. Included in these remaining reserves are $1.0 million for severance costs, the majority of which
management expects to utilize by the end of fiscal 2006. The remaining reserve balance also included $7.1 million
for remaining facility contractual lease commitments, the majority of which will be utilized by the end of fiscal 2007,
although a small portion of the remaining reserves relate to lease payouts that extend as late as fiscal 2010. Finally,
there were $0.3 million of other reserves, related primarily to remaining contractual commitments, the majority of
which the Company expects to utilize during fiscal 2006.
While the above charges related to Avnet personnel, facilities and operations, and are therefore recorded through
Avnet’s consolidated statements of operations as restructuring and other charges, the Company also recorded
numerous purchase accounting adjustments during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 related to the acquired
personnel and operations of Memec. These adjustments were generally recorded as part of the allocation of purchase
price and, therefore, were not recorded in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. During the first nine
months of fiscal 2006, the Company established and approved plans to integrate the acquired operations into all three
regions of the Company’s EM operations, for which the Company recorded $66.6 million in preliminary exit-related
purchase accounting adjustments. These purchase accounting adjustments consist primarily of $32.6 million for
severance for Memec workforce reductions of over 700 personnel (including senior management, administrative,
finance and certain operational functions) primarily in the Americas and EMEA; $29.1 million for lease and other
contract termination costs; and $4.9 million for remaining commitments and termination charges related to other
contractual commitments of Memec that will no longer be of use in the combined business. Of these exit-related
purchase accounting adjustments recorded in the first nine months of fiscal 2006, $38.7 million was paid out in cash
during the first nine months of fiscal 2006 and $8.4 million were non-cash write-downs, leaving $19.5 million of
remaining reserves, primarily related to severance, which are expected to be substantially paid out before the end of
fiscal 2007, and lease commitment reserves, for which payments will extend into fiscal 2010.
Operating Income
Operating income for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was $121.9 million, or 3.4% of consolidated sales as
compared with operating income of $78.5 million, or 2.8% of consolidated sales in the third quarter of fiscal 2005.
The margin and operating expense trends discussed previously in this MD&A contributed to the operating income
performance year-over-year. In addition, operating income for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was negatively
impacted by a total of $23.5 million (0.7% of consolidated sales) for charges previously described. (See table in Net
Income for a detail of these charges. See also Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs and Selling,
General and Administrative Expenses for further discussion of these charges). The overall improvement in operating
income margin without these charges is driven by the increased sales volume, cost management and the successful
Memec integration discussed previously in this MD&A.
EM reported operating income of $122.8 million (5.0% of EM sales) in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 as
compared with operating income of $61.5 million (3.9% of EM sales) in the prior year third quarter. On a pro forma
combined basis, operating income in the prior year third quarter was $71.4 million, or 3.3% of EM’s pro forma
combined sales. The 117 basis point year-over-year improvement in operating income margin (170 basis points on a
pro forma combined basis) is similarly a result of the increased volume resulting from the Memec acquisition
coupled with the rapid removal of operating costs from the successful integration of the combined businesses.
Operating income at TS was $37.6 million (3.2% of TS sales) in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 as compared with
operating income of $31.7 million (2.7% of TS sales) in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. TS maintained positive
year-over-year trends in operating profitability in the third quarter of fiscal 2006, following its record quarterly
revenue and operating income performance in the prior sequential quarter, based upon its continued focus on
profitable relationships and cost controls inherent in management’s strategy for the past several years.
Consolidated operating income for the nine months ended April 1, 2006 was $288.1 million (2.7% of
consolidated sales), compared with $235.6 million (2.9% of consolidated sales) in the first nine months of fiscal
2005. Operating income for the first nine months of fiscal 2006 was negatively impacted by $77.5 million (0.7% of
consolidated sales) of charges previously described. (See table in Net Income for a detail of these charges. See also
Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses for
further discussion of these charges).
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Interest Expense and Other Income, net
Interest expense for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was $25.2 million, up $4.2 million, or 20.0%, from interest
expense of $21.0 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. The increase in interest expense in the current quarter is a
result of rising short-term interest rates and higher borrowings on the Company’s various bank credit facilities. The
increased borrowings are a direct result of certain cash expended for the acquisition of Memec in the first quarter of
fiscal 2006 and cash payments for other charges in the first nine months of fiscal 2006 (see Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Cash Flow for further discussion). The factors driving interest expense up are offset partially by the
favorable impact of the Company’s issuance of $250.0 million of 6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015 (the
“6.00% Notes”) and repurchase of $254.1 million of the Company’s higher rate 8.00% Notes due November 15,
2006 (the “8.00% Notes”) during the first quarter of fiscal 2006.
Interest expense for the first nine months of fiscal 2006 totaled $72.0 million as compared with $63.1 million for
the comparable nine month period in the prior fiscal year. The increase in year-to-date interest expense is a result of
the same factors discussed above.
Other (expense) income, net, for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was an expense of $0.2 million as compared
with other income, net of $1.9 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. The current quarter expense is driven
primarily by lower interest income on lower cash balances in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 and losses recognized in
the third quarter of fiscal 2006 related to sales of certain property, plant and equipment as well as the Company’s
share of net losses recognized on certain equity method investments.
In the first nine months of fiscal 2006, other income, net was $4.6 million as compared with $2.2 million in the
first nine months of the prior year. In addition to higher interest income on normal cash balances and more favorable
foreign currency impacts in the current fiscal year, the Company also yielded higher interest income by
approximately $0.4 million earned on the investment of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 6.00% Notes
during the four week tender period for the 8.00% Notes discussed above.
Gain on Sales of Business Lines
During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company divested its two TS end-user business lines in the
Americas. First, the Company sold its TS Americas enterprise server and storage business line to a value-added
reseller. Second, the Company contributed cash and certain operating assets and liabilities of its TS Americas enduser network solutions business into a joint venture with Calence Inc. in exchange for an investment interest in the
joint venture, called Calence LLC. As a result of these divestitures, a gain of $10.9 million pre-tax, $7.3 million after
tax and $0.05 per share on a diluted basis was recorded in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2006.
Debt Extinguishment Costs
As further described in Financing Transactions , the Company incurred debt extinguishment costs in the first
nine months of fiscal 2006 (incurred entirely during the first fiscal quarter) associated with the repurchase of
$254.1 million of the 8.00% Notes. The costs, which related primarily to premiums and other transaction costs
associated with the repurchase, totaled $11.7 million pre-tax, $7.1 million after tax and $0.05 per share on a diluted
basis.
Income Tax Provision
Avnet’s effective tax rate on its income before taxes for both the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal
2006 was 33.8% as compared with an effective tax rate of 30.8% for both the third quarter and first nine months of
fiscal 2005. The increase in effective rates in fiscal 2006 is a function of changes in the geographic mix of profits
across jurisdictions with varying statutory tax rates following the integration of Memec’s operations into those of
Avnet. The Company’s effective tax rate is also computed based upon projected mix of profits for the remainder of
the fiscal year. As such, management anticipates that the current 33.8% rate is a reasonable approximation of the
effective tax rate for Avnet for the remainder of fiscal 2006.
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Net Income
As a result of the operational performance and other factors discussed in the preceding sections of this MD&A,
the Company’s consolidated net income for the third quarter of fiscal 2006 was $71.2 million and $0.48 per share on
a diluted basis, as compared with net income of $41.1 million, or $0.34 per share on a diluted basis, for the third
quarter of fiscal 2005. The third quarter of fiscal 2006 was negatively impacted by a net total of $8.3 million after tax
and $0.06 per diluted share as detailed in the following table. See Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration
Costs, Selling, General and Administrative Expenses and Gain on Sale of Business Lines for further discussion of
these items.
Quarter Ended April 1, 2006
Operating
Pre-Tax
Net
Income
Income
Income
($ in thousands, except per share data)

Diluted
EPS

$ 1,440

$ 10,040

$ 10,040

$ 6,652

$ 0.05

—
—
—
—
$ 1,440

6,930
3,412
3,120
—
$ 23,502

6,930
3,412
3,120
(10,950)
$ 12,552

4,591
2,260
2,067
(7,254)
$ 8,316

0.03
0.02
0.01
(0.05)
$ 0.06

Gross
Profit

Restructuring and integration costs (primarily Memec
acquisition-related)
Restructuring and other costs related to business
divestitures and other actions
Stock-based compensation expense
Incremental amortization expense for intangible assets
Gain on sale of business lines
Total

The Company’s net income for the first nine months of fiscal 2006 was $145.7 million, or $0.99 per share on a
diluted basis, as compared with net income for the first nine months of fiscal 2005 of $121.0 million, or $1.00 per
share on a diluted basis. The first nine months of fiscal 2006 were negatively impacted by a net total of $51.7 million
after tax and $0.35 per share on a diluted basis as detailed in the following table.
Nine Months Ended April 1, 2006
Operating
Pre-Tax
Net
Income
Income
Income
($ in thousands, except per share data)

Diluted
EPS

$ 8,977

$ 52,188

$ 52,188

$ 35,291

$ 0.24

—
—
—
—
—
$ 8,977

10,991
11,214
3,120
—
—
$ 77,513

10,991
11,214
3,120
11,665
(10,950)
$ 78,228

7,317
7,195
2,067
7,052
(7,254)
$ 51,668

0.05
0.05
0.01
0.05
(0.05)
$ 0.35

Gross
Profit

Restructuring and integration costs (primarily Memec
acquisition-related)
Restructuring and other costs related to business
divestitures and other actions
Stock-based compensation expense
Incremental amortization expense for intangible assets
Debt extinguishment costs
Gain on sale of business lines
Total
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash Flow
The following table summarizes the Company’s cash flow activity for the quarters and nine months ended
April 1, 2006 and April 2, 2005, including the Company’s computation of free cash flow and a reconciliation of this
metric to the nearest GAAP measures of net income and net cash flow from operations. Management’s computation
of free cash flow consists of net cash flow from operations plus cash flows generated from or used for purchases and
sales of property, plant and equipment, acquisitions and dispositions of operations and investments, effects of
exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents and other financing activities. Management believes that the non-GAAP
metric of free cash flow is a useful measure to help management and investors better assess and understand the
Company’s operating performance and sources and uses of cash. Management also believes the analysis of free cash
flow assists in identifying underlying trends in the business. Computations of free cash flow may differ from
company to company. Therefore, the analysis of free cash flow should be used as a complement to, and in
conjunction with, the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows presented in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
Management also analyzes cash flow from operations based upon its three primary components noted in the
table below: net income, non-cash and other reconciling items and cash flow used for working capital. Similar to free
cash flow, management believes that this breakout is an important measure to help management and investors to
understand the trends in the Company’s cash flows, including the impact of management’s focus on asset utilization
and efficiency through its management of the net balance of receivables, inventories and accounts payable.
Third Quarters Ended
Nine Months Ended
April 1,
April 2,
April 1,
April 2,
2006
2005
2006
2005
(Thousands)

Net income
Non-cash and other reconciling items(1)
Cash flow (used in) generated from working capital (excluding
cash and cash equivalents)(2)
Net cash flow provided from (used for) operations
Cash flow (used for) provided from:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Cash proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition and dispositions of operations and investments,
net
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Other, net financing activities
Net free cash flow
(Repayment of) proceeds from debt, net
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

$ 71,167
25,541
(94,439)
2,269

$ 41,148
22,403
82,851
146,402

$ 145,700
107,213

$120,989
112,572

(411,644)
(158,731)

150,618
384,179

(14,108)
621

(6,517)
328

(38,175)
2,250

(22,257)
7,125

(6,625)
2,060
4,195
(11,588)
(7,706)
$(19,294)

7
(10,048)
739
130,911
(83,586)
$ 47,325

(310,647)
(477)
27,774
(478,006)
39,985
$(438,021)

(1,098)
5,719
923
374,591
(92,910)
$281,681

(1) Non-cash and other reconciling items are the combination of depreciation and amortization, deferred income
taxes, non-cash restructuring and other charges, and other, net (primarily the provision for doubtful accounts), in
cash flows from operations.
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(2) Cash flow used for working capital is the combination of the changes in the Company’s working capital and
other balance sheet accounts in cash flows from operations (receivables, inventories, accounts payable and
accrued expenses and other, net).
During the third quarter ended April 1, 2006, the Company utilized $94.4 million of cash and cash equivalents
for working capital, compared with a cash generation of $82.9 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. The cash
outflow was primarily the net result of payables settlement and slight inventory build up at TS and receivables
growth at EM. The settlement of December payables, which TS incurred during in its seasonally strong December
quarter end, was mostly offset by cash collections on the December sales. However, TS also increased inventory
during the quarter. In addition, the Company paid $26.3 million during the current quarter relating to restructuring,
integration and payments of amounts accrued in purchase accounting associated with the Memec acquisition, and
restructuring and other costs as a result of the sale of two TS business lines and other actions taken during fiscal
2006. See Results of Operations — Restructuring and other charges and integration costs discussed elsewhere in this
MD&A. For the third quarter of fiscal 2005, cash generation of $82.9 million in working capital resulted primarily
from operational focus to reduce a temporary inventory build up, particularly in EM.
During the nine months ended April 1, 2006, the Company utilized $411.6 million of cash and cash equivalents
for working capital as compared with cash generation of $150.6 million in the nine months ended April 2, 2005. In
addition to the impact of trends in receivables, payables and inventory discussed above, the Company paid
$78.5 million during the nine months ended April 1, 2006 for restructuring and other charges, integration costs and
amounts accrued for in purchase accounting. See Results of Operations — Restructuring and other charges and
integration costs. The Company also made an accelerated contribution to the Company’s pension plan during the
first quarter of fiscal 2006, totaling $58.6 million.
The cash flows associated with investing activities included capital expenditures during the first nine months of
fiscal 2006, primarily related to certain information technology hardware and software purchases completed during
the third quarter fiscal 2006 and a new mainframe purchase during the first half of fiscal 2006, and the ongoing
development of one additional operating system to replace one of the systems that was disposed of as part of the
restructuring and other charges in the first quarter (see Results of Operations — Restructuring and Other Charges
and Integration Costs for further discussion). Also included in cash flows used in investing activities for the first nine
months of fiscal 2006 is $310.6 million for acquisitions and investments net of divestitures, which relate primarily to
the following: (1) $298.6 million associated with the Company’s acquisition of Memec, including the retirement of
substantially all of Memec’s debt at the time of the acquisition (see Note 4 to the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion); (2) $17.5 million cash contribution to the Calence, Inc. joint venture;
and (3) $5.7 million for the purchase of shares held by a minority interest holder in one of the Company’s Israeli
subsidiaries, an additional earn-out payment associated with a small acquisition completed in fiscal 2005 and other
items; net of (4) cash inflow of $11.2 million relating to the divestiture of the end-user business lines during the third
quarter of fiscal 2006. Finally, the cash inflows from other net financing activities in both the third quarter and first
nine months of fiscal 2006 related primarily to cash received for stock option exercises and the associated tax benefit.
As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company utilized free cash flow of $11.6 million and
$478.0 million, respectively, in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2006 as compared with an inflow of
$130.9 million and $374.6 million, respectively, in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2005. Financing
related activities resulted in a cash outflow of $7.7 million during the third quarter fiscal 2006 and cash inflow of
$40.0 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2006. The current quarter cash outflow was used to reduce
borrowings on bank credit facilities. However, in the first nine months of fiscal 2006, the Company increased its
overall borrowings on the bank credit facilities to fund working capital requirements. The Company also utilized
cash and cash equivalents of $19.3 million during the first half of fiscal 2006, primarily for premiums, transaction
costs and other costs associated with the repurchase of a total of $256.2 million of the Company’s 8% Notes, the
majority of which was funded by the net proceeds from the issuance of the 6% Notes (see Financing Transactions ).
The result of these activities yielded a net usage of cash and cash equivalents of $19.3 million in the third
quarter of fiscal 2006 and net usage of $438.0 million in the first nine of fiscal 2006 as compared with a net
generation of cash of $47.3 million and $281.7 million, respectively, in the third quarter and first nine months of
fiscal 2005.
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Capital Structure and Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes the Company’s capital structure as of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2006
with a comparison to fiscal 2005 year-end:
April 1,
2006

Short-term debt
Long-term debt
Total debt
Shareholders’ equity
Total capitalization

$ 278,929
1,022,503
1,301,432
2,704,314
$4,005,746

% of Total
July 2,
Capitalization
2005
(Dollars in thousands)

7.0%
25.5
32.5
67.5
100.0

$

61,298
1,183,195
1,244,493
2,097,033
$3,341,526

% of Total
Capitalization

1.8%
35.4
37.2
62.8
100.0

Long-term debt in the above table includes the fair value adjustment of $10.3 million decreasing total debt and
capitalization at April 1, 2006 and $0.9 million increasing total debt and capitalization at July 2, 2005. This fair value
adjustment is a result of the Company’s fair value hedges on its 8.00% and 9 3 / 4 % Notes discussed in Financing
Transactions below. The capitalization as of April 1, 2006 also reflects the impact of 24.0 million shares of Avnet
common stock issued to the former owners of Memec as part of the acquisition of Memec. The impact on the
Company’s consolidated shareholders’ equity related to this issuance is $418.2 million (see Note 4 to the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion).
For a description of the Company’s long-term debt and lease commitments for the next five years and thereafter,
see Long-Term Contractual Obligations appearing in Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended July 2, 2005. With the exception of the Company’s debt transactions and equity issuance discussed
herein, there are no material changes to this information outside of normal lease payments, including the leases
assumed with the acquisition of Memec.
The Company does not currently have any material commitments for capital expenditures.
Financing Transactions
As of July 2, 2005, the Company had an unsecured $350.0 million credit facility with a syndicate of banks (the
“Credit Facility”), expiring in June 2007. During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company amended and
restated the Credit Facility to, among other things, increase the borrowing capacity from $350.0 million to
$500.0 million, and increase the maximum amount of the total facility that can be used for letters of credit from
$75.0 million to $100.0 million (the “Amended Credit Facility”). In addition, the Amended Credit Facility has a fiveyear term that matures in October 2010. The Company may still select from various interest rate options, currencies
and maturities under the Amended Credit Facility. The Amended Credit Facility contains certain covenants, all of
which the Company was in compliance with as of April 1, 2006. At April 1, 2006, there was $2.4 million drawn
under the Amended Credit Facility. There were no borrowings under the Credit Facility at July 2, 2005.
In August 2005, the Company also amended its accounts receivable securitization program to, among other
things, increase the maximum available for borrowing from $350.0 million to $450.0 million. In addition, the
amended Program now provides that drawings under the facility no longer qualify as off-balance sheet financing (see
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements). As a result, the receivables and related debt obligation will remain on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet when amounts are drawn under the Program. The amended Program has a one
year term expiring in August 2006. There were no drawings outstanding under the Program at April 1, 2006.
In August 2005, the Company issued $250.0 million of 6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015 (the “6% Notes”).
The proceeds from the offering, net of discount and underwriting fees, were $246.5 million. The Company used these
proceeds, plus cash and cash equivalents on hand, to fund the tender and repurchase of $250.0 million of the
8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006 (the “8% Notes”), at a price of $1,045 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. In
September 2005, the Company also repurchased $4.1 million of the 8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,038
per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. As a result of the tender and repurchases, the Company incurred debt
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extinguishment costs of $11.7 million pre-tax, $7.1 million after tax or $0.05 per share on a diluted basis, relating
primarily to premiums and other transaction costs. In December 2005, the Company repurchased an additional
$2.2 million of the 8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,026 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes.
The Company’s $300.0 million of 2% Convertible Senior Debentures due March 15, 2034 (the “Debentures”)
are convertible into Avnet common stock at a rate of 29.5516 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount
of Debentures. The Debentures are only convertible under certain circumstances, including if: (i) the closing price of
the Company’s common stock reaches $45.68 per share (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances) for a
specified period of time; (ii) the average trading price of the Debentures falls below a certain percentage of the
conversion value per Debenture for a specified period of time; (iii) the Company calls the Debentures for
redemption; or (iv) certain corporate transactions, as defined, occur. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver cash
in lieu of common stock as the Company made an irrevocable election in December 2004 to satisfy the principal
portion of the Debentures, if converted, in cash. The Company may redeem some or all of the Debentures for cash
any time on or after March 20, 2009 at the Debentures’ full principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.
Holders of the Debentures may require the Company to purchase, in cash, all or a portion of the Debentures on
March 15, 2009, 2014, 2019, 2024 and 2029, or upon a fundamental change, as defined, at the Debentures’ full
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.
At July 2, 2005, the Company had two interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $400.0 million in
order to hedge the change in fair value of the 8% Notes related to fluctuations in interest rates. These contracts were
classified as fair value hedges with a November 2006 maturity date. The interest rate swaps modified the Company’s
interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 8% Notes to a floating rate (6.4% at July 2,
2005) based on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their maturities. During the first quarter of fiscal
2006, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps which hedged the 8% Notes due to the repurchase of
$254.1 million of the $400.0 million 8% Notes, as previously discussed. The termination of the swaps resulted in net
proceeds to the Company, of which, $1.3 million was netted in debt extinguishment costs in the first quarter of fiscal
2006 based on the pro rata portion of the 8% Notes that were repurchased. The remaining proceeds of $0.8 million,
which represent the pro rata portion of the 8% Notes that were not repurchased, have been capitalized in other longterm debt and are being amortized over the maturity of the remaining 8% Notes.
The Company has three additional interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $300.0 million, in order to
hedge the change in fair value of the 9 3 / 4 % Notes due February 15, 2008 (the “9 3 / 4 % Notes”) related to
fluctuations in interest rates. These hedges are classified as fair value hedges and mature in February 2008. These
interest rate swaps modify the Company’s interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 9 3 / 4
% Notes to a floating rate (11.2% at April 1, 2006) based on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their
maturities.
The hedged fixed rate debt and the interest rate swaps are adjusted to current market values through interest
expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company accounts for the hedges using the shortcut
method as defined under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities , as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138,
Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Due to the effectiveness of the hedges since
inception, the market value adjustments for the hedged debt and the interest rate swaps directly offset one another.
In addition to its primary financing arrangements, the Company has several small lines of credit in various
locations to fund the short-term working capital, foreign exchange, overdraft and letter of credit needs of its wholly
owned subsidiaries in Europe and Asia. Avnet generally guarantees its subsidiaries’ debt under these facilities.
Covenants and Conditions
The accounts receivable securitization program agreement discussed in Financing Transactions above contains
minimum interest coverage and leverage ratios as defined in the Credit Facility (see discussion below). The Program
agreement currently in effect also contains certain covenants relating to the quality of the receivables sold. If these
conditions are not met, the Company may not be able to borrow any additional funds and the financial institutions
may consider this an amortization event, as defined in the agreement, which would permit the financial institutions to
liquidate the accounts receivable sold to cover any outstanding borrowings. Circumstances that could affect the
Company’s ability to meet the required covenants and conditions of the agreement include the Company’s

42

Table of Contents
ongoing profitability and various other economic, market and industry factors. Management does not believe that the
covenants under the Program limit the Company’s ability to pursue its intended business strategy or future financing
needs. The Company was in compliance with all covenants of the amended and original Program agreements at
April 1, 2006 and July 2, 2005, respectively.
The Credit Facility and Amended Credit Facility discussed in Financing Transactions contain certain covenants
with various limitations on debt incurrence, dividends, investments and capital expenditures and also includes
financial covenants requiring the Company to maintain minimum interest coverage and leverage ratios, as defined.
Management does not believe that the covenants in the Credit Facility limit the Company’s ability to pursue its
intended business strategy or future financing needs. The Company was in compliance with all covenants of the
amended and the original Credit Facility as of April 1, 2006 and July 2, 2005, respectively.
See Liquidity for further discussion of the Company’s availability under these various facilities.
Liquidity
The Company had total borrowing capacity of $950.0 million at April 1, 2006 under the Credit Facility and the
Program, against which $22.9 million in letters of credit were issued under the Credit Facility, and $2.4 million was
drawn and outstanding on the Credit Facility as of April 1, 2006, resulting in $927.1 million of net availability at the
end of the third quarter. The Company also had an additional $199.8 million of cash and cash equivalents at April 1,
2006. There are no significant financial commitments of the Company outside of normal debt and lease maturities
discussed in Capital Structure and Contractual Obligations. Management believes that Avnet’s borrowing capacity,
its current cash availability and the Company’s expected ability to generate operating cash flows are sufficient to
meet its projected financing needs. The Company is less likely to generate significant operating cash flows in a
growing electronic component and computer products industry. However, additional cash requirements for working
capital are generally expected to be offset by the operating cash flows generated by the Company’s enhanced
profitability as Avnet continues to realize further operating expense synergies following the acquisition of Memec.
Furthermore, the next significant public debt maturity is in November 2006, when the $143.7 million of 8% Notes
mature. Management expects to be able to repay these notes through available cash and cash equivalents or other
available liquidity.
The following table highlights the Company’s liquidity and related ratios as of the end of the third quarter of
fiscal 2006 with a comparison to the fiscal 2005 year-end:
COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS — LIQUIDITY
April 1,
2006

Current Assets
Quick Assets
Current Liabilities
Working Capital
Total Debt
Total Capital (total debt plus total shareholders’ equity)
Quick Ratio
Working Capital Ratio
Debt to Total Capital

July 2,
Percentage
2005
Change
(Dollars in millions)

$4,261.3
$3,783.0
2,648.5
2,526.5
2,262.1
1,717.5
1,999.2
2,065.4
1,301.4
1,244.5
4,005.7
3,341.5
1.2:1
1.5:1
1.9:1
2.2:1
32.5%
37.2%

12.6%
4.8
31.7
(3.2)
4.6
19.9

As discussed in Cash Flow , during the first nine months of fiscal 2006, the Company utilized approximately
$467.6 million for a number of notable transactions, including the acquisition of Memec, accelerated contributions to
the Company’s pension plan, cash used in connection with the repurchase of the Company’s 8% Notes, cash used for
the acquisition of the minority interest in Avnet’s Israeli subsidiary, net cash payments for the equity investment in
Calence and sale of the TS business lines, and cash payments made related to restructuring charges and integration
costs and other reserves recorded through purchase accounting. The Company’s quick assets (consisting
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of cash and cash equivalents and receivables) increased 4.8% from July 2, 2005 to April 1, 2006 as a result of the
Memec acquisition, offset in part by the cash usage discussed above. In addition to factors that impacted quick assets,
the 12.6% increase in current assets was also impacted by the increase in inventory primarily due to the acquisition of
Memec. Current liabilities grew 31.7% from July 2, 2005. Specifically, the Company retained one of Memec’s shortterm borrowing facilities in Japan, and in addition to this, the Company increased borrowings on its bank credit
facilities to fund working capital requirements. These items and the November 2006 maturity status of the remaining
$143.7 million of the 8% Notes, served to increase short term borrowings since 2005 fiscal year end. Current
liabilities, also increased as a result of the Memec acquisition and the corresponding growth in the size of Avnet’s
business, the increase in accounts payable (see discussion in Cash Flow ) and the increase in reserves for
restructuring and purchase accounting established during fiscal 2006 (see discussion in Results of Operations —
Restructuring and other charges and integration costs ). As a result of the factors noted above, total working capital
decreased by approximately 3.2% during the first nine months of fiscal 2006. Total capital grew primarily due to the
24.0 million shares of Avnet common stock granted to Memec’s former shareholders to complete the acquisition.
This corresponding $418.2 million growth in equity is also the primary reason for the Company’s debt to capital ratio
dropping from 37.2% at July 2, 2005 to 32.5% at April 1, 2006, as the Company paid off the majority of Memec’s
outstanding debt as part of the close of the acquisition.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2006, Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets — an Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 140” (“SFAS 156”). SFAS No. 156 provides guidance on the accounting for servicing assets and liabilities when
an entity undertakes an obligation to service a financial asset by entering into a servicing contract. This statement is
effective for all transactions at the beginning of fiscal 2008. The adoption of SFAS No. 156 will not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “ Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments —
an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140 ” (“SFAS No. 155”). SFAS No. 155 allows financial
instruments that contain an embedded derivative and that otherwise would require bifurcation to be accounted for as
a whole on a fair value basis, at the holders’ election. SFAS No. 155 also clarifies and amends certain other
provisions of SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 140. SFAS 155 is effective beginning fiscal 2008. The adoption of
SFAS 155 will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 154 (“SFAS 154”), Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections. SFAS 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle as well as to
changes required by an accounting pronouncement that does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS 154
eliminates the requirement in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes , to include the
cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle in the income statement in the period of change and, instead,
requires changes in accounting principle to be retrospectively applied. Retrospective application requires the new
accounting principle to be applied as if the change occurred at the beginning of the first period presented by
modifying periods previously reported, if an estimate of the prior period impact is practicable and estimable.
SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The Company does not currently anticipate any changes in accounting principle other than the
adoption of SFAS 123R discussed below, which has its own adoption transition provision and is therefore not in the
scope of SFAS 154. As a result, Avnet does not believe the adoption of SFAS 154 will have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligation,
(“FIN 47”), which is an interpretation of SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligation. FIN 47
clarifies that entity is required to recognized a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if
the fair value can be reasonably estimated even though uncertainty exists about the timing or method of settlement.
The Company is required to adopt FIN 47 as of the end of fiscal 2006. The Company does not expect the adoption
will have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments (“SFAS 123R”) which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for StockBased Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be measured at fair
value and expensed in the consolidated statement of operations over the service period (generally the vesting period).
Upon adoption, the Company transitioned to SFAS 123R using the modified prospective application, whereby
compensation cost is only recognized in the consolidated statements of operations beginning with the first period that
SFAS 123R is effective and thereafter, with prior periods’ stock-based compensation for option and employee stock
purchase plan activity still presented on a pro forma basis. The Company continues to use the Black-Scholes option
valuation model to value stock options. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company recognized pre-tax
charges of $2.3 million and $8.3 million in the quarter and nine months ended April 1, 2006, respectively, associated
with the expensing of stock options and employee stock purchase plan activity. Additionally, the Company increased
its grant activity under other stock-based compensation programs (while decreasing the number of options granted)
that have always been expensed in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations, which yielded incremental
expense under these other programs amounting to $1.1 million and $2.9 million when compared with the third
quarter of fiscal 2005 and first nine months of fiscal 2005, respectively. In the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the
combination of these two changes resulting from the adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in incremental expenses of
$3.4 million pre-tax (included in selling, general and administrative expenses), $2.3 million after tax and $0.02 per
share on a diluted basis. In the first nine months of fiscal 2006, the incremental expense was $11.2 million pre-tax,
$7.2 million after tax and $0.05 per share on a diluted basis.
In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 123R-3 (“FSP 123R-3”), Transition Election Relating to
Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards , which provides an optional alternative transition
election for calculating the pool of excess tax benefits (“APIC pool”) available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized
under SFAS 123R. Under FSP 123R-3, an entity can make a one time election to either use the alternative simplified
method or use the guidance in SFAS 123R to calculate the APIC pool. As a result, the Company has elected to use
the alternative simplified method under FSP 123R.
In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 109-2 (“FSP 109-2”), Accounting and Disclosure
Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 , which
provides guidance for implementing the repatriation of earnings provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 (the “Jobs Act”) and the impact on the Company’s income tax expense and deferred income tax liabilities. The
Jobs Act was enacted in October 2004. However, FSP 109-2 allows additional time beyond the period of enactment
to allow the Company to evaluate the effect of the Jobs Act on the Company’s plan for reinvestment or repatriation
of foreign earnings. The Company has completed its evaluation of the impact of the repatriation provisions of FSP
109-2 and has elected not to repatriate any foreign earnings under the Jobs Act. As a result, the adoption of FSP 1092 did not have a material impact on the company’s financial statements.
In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4
(“SFAS 151”). SFAS 151 requires that abnormal inventory costs such as abnormal freight, handling costs and
spoilage be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized as part of inventory, and requires the allocation of fixed
production overhead costs to be based on normal capacity. SFAS 151 is to be applied prospectively and is effective
for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS 151 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
The Company seeks to reduce earnings and cash flow volatility associated with changes in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates by entering into financial arrangements intended to provide a hedge against all or a
portion of the risks associated with such volatility. The Company continues to have exposure to such risks to the
extent they are not hedged.
See Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk , in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended July 2, 2005 for further discussion of market risks associated with interest rates and
foreign currency exchange. Avnet’s exposure to foreign exchange risks have not changed materially since July 2,
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2005 as the Company continues to hedge the majority of its foreign exchange exposures. Thus, any increase or
decrease in fair value of the Company’s foreign exchange contracts is generally offset by an opposite effect on the
related hedged position.
See Liquidity and Capital Resources — Financing Transactions appearing in Item 2 of this Report for further
discussion of the Company’s financing facilities and capital structure. As of April 1, 2006, 67% of the Company’s
debt bears interest at a fixed rate and 33% of the Company’s debt bears interest at variable rates (including as
variable rate debt $300.0 million of the 9 3 / 4 % Notes based on the variable rate hedges in place to hedge the
Company’s exposure to changes in fair value associated with these Notes due to changes in interest rates — see
Liquidity and Capital Resources — Financing Transactions for further discussion). Therefore, a hypothetical 1.0%
(100 basis point) increase in interest rates would result in a $1.1 million impact on income before income taxes in the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the quarter ended April 1, 2006.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the
reporting period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report
on Form 10-Q, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective such that material information
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
rules and forms relating to the Company.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, there have been no changes to the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

46

Table of Contents

PART II
OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
As a result primarily of certain former manufacturing operations, Avnet may have liability under various federal,
state and local environmental laws and regulations, including those governing pollution and exposure to and the
handling, storage and disposal of hazardous substances. For example, under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (“CERCLA”) and similar state laws, Avnet may be
liable for the costs of cleaning up environmental contamination on or from its current or former properties, and at offsite locations where the Company disposed of wastes in the past. Such laws may impose joint and several liability.
Typically, however, the costs for cleanup at such sites are allocated among potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”)
based upon each party’s relative contribution to the contamination, and other factors.
In May 1993, the Company and the former owners of a Company-owned site in Oxford, North Carolina entered
into a Settlement Agreement in which the former owners agreed to bear 100% of all costs associated with
investigation and cleanup of soils and sludges remaining on the site and 70% of all costs associated with
investigation and cleanup of groundwater. The Company agreed to be responsible for 30% of the groundwater
investigation and cleanup costs. In October 1993, the Company and the former owners entered into a Consent Decree
and Court Order with the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) for the environmental clean-up of the site,
the cost of which, according to the EPA’s remedial investigation and feasibility study, was estimated to be
approximately $6.3 million, exclusive of the approximately $1.5 million in EPA past costs paid by the PRPs. Based
on current information, the Company does not anticipate its liability in the matter will be material to its financial
position, cash flow or results of operations.
The Company is a PRP at a manufacturing site in Huguenot, New York, currently under investigation by the
New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (“NYSDEC”), which site the Company owned from the
mid-1960s until the early-1970s. The Company has been engaged in litigation to apportion the estimated
clean-up costs among it and the current and former owners and operators of the site. The Company has reached a
tentative settlement in this matter, which will, upon payment, relieve the Company of ongoing liability for the first
phase of the environmental clean up (estimated to cost a total of $2.4 million for all parties to remediate
contaminated soils) and for past costs incurred by NYSDEC and the current owner of the site. This tentative
agreement is still subject to finalization, including ratification by all parties involved and the remediation plan is
subject to final approval by NYSDEC. Based on the tentative settlement arrangement and the expected costs of the
remediation efforts, the Company does not anticipate its liability in the matter will be material to its financial
position, cash flow or results of operations.
Based on the information known to date, management believes that the Company has appropriately accrued in
its consolidated financial statements for its share of the costs associated with these environmental clean-up sites.
The Company and/or its subsidiaries are also parties to various other legal proceedings arising from time to time
in the normal course of business. While litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, management currently believes
that the ultimate outcome of these proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial position, cash flow or results of operations.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
The following table includes the Company’s monthly purchases of common stock during the quarter ended
April 1, 2006:

Period

January
February
March

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

20,000
15,000
3,000

Average Price Paid
per Share

$
$
$

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or
Programs

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar
Value) of Shares
That May Yet Be
Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

—
—
—

—
—
—

25.46
25.36
24.24

The purchases of Avnet common stock noted above were made on the open market to obtain shares for purchase
under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan. None of these purchases were made pursuant to a publicly
announced repurchase plan and the Company does not currently have a stock repurchase plan in place.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
The 2005 Annual Meeting of the Shareholders of the Company was held on November 10, 2005 in Phoenix,
Arizona. On the record date for the annual meeting, 145,845,796 shares of common stock were outstanding and
eligible to vote.
The shareholders of the Company were asked to vote upon (i) election of directors and (ii) ratification of the
appointment of KPMG LLP as the independent public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending July 1, 2006. The
shareholders adopted both proposals by the following votes:
Election of Directors

Eleanor Baum
J. Veronica Biggins
Lawrence W. Clarkson
Ehud Houminer
James A. Lawrence
Frank R. Noonan
Ray M. Robinson
Peter Smitham
Gary L. Tooker
Roy Vallee
Matter

Ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as independent public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending July 1, 2006

For

Withheld

132,423,860
133,829,299
133,836,177
132,560,261
133,981,840
133,958,574
129,932,806
133,960,169
129,842,462
131,999,750

2,257,393
851,954
845,076
2,120,992
699,413
722,679
4,748,447
721,084
4,838,791
2,681,503

For

Against

Abstain

134,005,360

642,848

33,045

Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit

10.1* Form of Indemnity Agreement. The Company enters into this form of agreement with each of its directors
and officers.
10.2* Employment Agreement dated July 1, 2004 between the Company and Steven C. Church.
10.3* Change of Control Agreement dated July 1, 2004 between the Company and Steven C. Church.
31.1* Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit

31.2*

Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
32.1** Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
32.2** Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AVNET, INC.
(Registrant)

By:

Date: May 8, 2006

50

/s/ RAYMOND SADOWSKI
Raymond Sadowski
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit

Form of Indemnity Agreement. The Company enters into this form of agreement with each of its directors
and officers.
10.2* Employment Agreement dated July 1, 2004 between the Company and Steven C. Church.
10.3* Change of Control Agreement dated July 1, 2004 between the Company and Steven C. Church.
31.1* Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
31.2* Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
32.1** Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
32.2** Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.

Exhibit 10.1
INDEMNITY AGREEMENT
AGREEMENT , dated
(“Indemnitee”).

between Avnet, Inc., a New York corporation (the “Corporation”) and

W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS , Indemnitee currently serves and performs valuable services for the Corporation as an officer or director of the Corporation or
a subsidiary thereof and, as such, may be subject to claims, actions, suits or proceedings arising as a result of such service; and
WHEREAS , the Corporation (i) has adopted By-Laws providing for the indemnification and advancement of expenses by the Corporation
of any director and officer to the full extent permitted by law, and (ii) the Business Corporation Law of the State of New York (the “State
Statute”) is not exclusive of other rights of indemnification or advancement when authorized by an agreement providing for such rights; and
WHEREAS , in order to induce Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve as an officer or director of the Corporation or a subsidiary thereof,
the Corporation has determined that it is in its best interest to enter into this agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:
FIRST: Indemnification . The Corporation hereby agrees to hold harmless and indemnify Indemnitee, effective as of the date Indemnitee
first became a director or officer of the Corporation or a subsidiary thereof, or served in any other capacity of another corporation, partnership,
joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise at the request of the Corporation or a subsidiary thereof, from and against any and
all judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred as a result of or in connection with any
threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative or as a result of or in
connection with any appeal therein, whether or not such action, suit or proceeding is by or in the right of the Corporation or any subsidiary
thereof to provide a judgment in its favor, including any action, suit or proceeding by or in the right of any other corporation of any type or
kind, domestic or foreign, or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that the Indemnitee serves in any
capacity at the request of the Corporation, to which Indemnitee is, was or at any time becomes a party, or is threatened to be made a party or as
a result of or by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is, was or at any time, becomes a director or officer of the Corporation or a subsidiary
thereof, or is or was serving or at any time serves such other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other
enterprise, in any capacity, whether arising out of any breach of Indemnitee’s fiduciary duty, under any state or federal law or otherwise, as a
director or officer of the Corporation or subsidiary or as a director, officer, employee or agent of such other corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise if Indemnitee acted in good

faith, for a purpose which Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or (in the case of service for another corporation, partnership, joint venture,
trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise) not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation, and, in criminal actions or proceedings, in
addition, had no reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful; provided, however, that no indemnity pursuant to this Article
FIRST shall be paid by the Corporation
(1)

except to the extent the aggregate of losses to be indemnified exceeds the amount of such losses for which Indemnitee is actually paid
pursuant to any insurance purchased and maintained by the Corporation for the benefit of Indemnitee;

(2)

if judgment or other final adjudication establishes that the Indemnitee’s acts were committed in bad faith or were the result of active
and deliberate dishonesty and were material to the cause of action so adjudicated, or that Indemnitee personally gained in fact a
financial profit or other advantage to which Indemnitee was not legally entitled; or

(3)

if a final judgment by a court having jurisdiction in the matter shall determine that such indemnification is not lawful.

The termination of any such civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding by judgment, settlement, conviction or
upon a plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not create a presumption that Indemnitee did not act in good faith, for a purpose which
Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or (in the case of service for another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit
plan or other enterprise) not opposed to, the best interests on the corporation, or that Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that his or her
conduct was unlawful. For purposes of this Agreement (i) the Corporation shall be deemed to have requested Indemnitee to serve in a capacity
with respect to an employee benefit plan where the performance by Indemnitee of his or her duties to the Corporation or a subsidiary thereof
also imposes duties on, or otherwise involves services by, Indemnitee to the plan or participants or beneficiaries of the plan; (ii) excise taxes
assessed on Indemnitee with respect to any employee benefit plan pursuant to applicable law shall be considered fines; and (iii) action taken or
omitted by Indemnitee with respect to an employee benefit plan in the performance of Indemnitee’s duties for a purpose reasonably believed by
Indemnitee to be either in the interest of the Corporation or a subsidiary or in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of the plan shall
be deemed to be for a purpose which is not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation.
SECOND: Continuation of Indemnity . All agreements and obligations of the Corporation contained herein shall continue during the
period Indemnitee shall serve as a director or officer of the Corporation or subsidiary thereof and thereafter so long as Indemnitee shall be
subject to any possible claim or threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether, civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative, by reason of the fact that Indemnitee was a director or officer of the Corporation or subsidiary or served at the request of the
Corporation in any capacity in any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise.
THIRD : Determination of Entitlement to Indemnification . Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to Article
FIRST hereof, the entitlement of

Indemnitee to indemnification, to the extent not provided pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, shall be determined by the following person
or persons who shall be empowered to make such determination: (a) the Board of Directors of the Corporation, acting by a quorum consisting
of directors who are not parties to the action, suit or proceeding with respect to which indemnification is sought; or (b) if a quorum is not
obtainable, or, even if obtainable, if a quorum of directors who are not parties to the action, suit or proceeding with respect to which
indemnification is sought so directs, either by the Board of Directors upon the written opinion of independent legal counsel, a copy of which
shall be delivered to Indemnitee, or by the Corporation’s shareholders. Such independent counsel shall be selected by the Board of Directors
and approved by Indemnitee. Upon failure of the Board of Directors to select such independent counsel or upon failure of Indemnitee so to
approve, such independent counsel shall be selected upon application to a court of competent jurisdiction. Such determination of entitlement to
indemnification shall be made not later than 30 calendar days after receipt by the Corporation of a written request for indemnification. Such
request shall include documentation or information which is necessary for such determination and which is reasonably available to Indemnitee.
Any expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with a request for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Agreement, or
under any provision of the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation or By-laws or any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, shall be
borne by the Corporation. The Corporation hereby indemnifies Indemnitee for any such expense and agrees to hold Indemnitee harmless
therefrom irrespective of the outcome of the determination of Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification. If the person making such
determination shall determine that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification as to part (but not all) of the application for indemnification, such
person shall reasonably prorate such partial indemnification among the claims, issues or matters at issue at the time of the determination.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, in the event that the Indemnitee is not a member of the Board of Directors or an Executive Officer of
the Corporation, the Board of Directors may delegate its responsibilities under this Article Third to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Corporation.
FOURTH: Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings . The Secretary of the Corporation shall, promptly upon receipt of
Indemnitee’s request for indemnification, advise in writing the Board of Directors or such other person or persons empowered to make the
determination as provided in Article THIRD hereof that Indemnitee has made such request for indemnification. Upon making such request for
indemnification, Indemnitee shall be presumed to be entitled to indemnification hereunder and the Corporation shall have the burden of proof
in making any determination contrary to such presumption. If the person or persons so empowered to make such determination fails to make
the requested determination with respect to indemnification within 30 calendar days after receipt by the Corporation of such request, a requisite
determination of entitlement to indemnification shall be deemed to have been made and Indemnitee shall be absolutely entitled to such
indemnification, absent actual and material fraud in the request for indemnification.
FIFTH: Remedies of Indemnitee in Cases of Determination not to Indemnify or to Advance Expenses . In the event that a determination is
made that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification hereunder or if payment has not been timely made following a determination of
entitlement to indemnification pursuant to Articles THIRD and FOURTH hereof or, or if expenses are not advanced pursuant to Article
SEVENTH hereof, Indemnitee shall be entitled to final adjudication in a court of competent jurisdiction of

entitlement to such indemnification or advancement. Alternatively, Indemnitee at Indemnitee’s option may seek an award in an arbitration to be
conducted by a single arbitrator pursuant to the rules of the American Arbitration Association, such award to be made within 60 days following
the filing of the demand for arbitration. The Corporation shall not oppose Indemnitee’s right to seek any such adjudication or award in
arbitration or any other claim. The determination in any such judicial proceeding or arbitration shall be made de novo and Indemnitee shall not
be prejudiced by reason of a determination (if so made) pursuant to Article THIRD or FOURTH hereof that Indemnitee is not entitled to
indemnification. If a determination is made or deemed to have been made pursuant to the terms of Article THIRD or FOURTH hereof hereof
that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, the Corporation shall be bound by such determination and is precluded from asserting that such
determination has not been made or that the procedure by which such determination was made is not valid, binding and enforceable. The
Corporation further agrees to stipulate in any such court or before any such arbitrator that the Corporation is bound by all the provisions of this
Agreement and is precluded from making any assertions to the contrary. If the court or arbitrator shall determine that Indemnitee is entitled to
any indemnification or advancement of expenses hereunder, the Corporation shall pay all expenses actually and reasonably incurred by
Indemnitee in connection with such adjudication or award in arbitration (including, but not limited to, any appeal therein).
SIXTH: Notification and Defense of Claim . Promptly after receipt by Indemnitee of notice of the commencement of any action, suit or
proceeding, Indemnitee will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against the Corporation under this Agreement, notify the Corporation of
the commencement thereof; but the omission so to notify the Corporation will not relieve it from any liability that it may have to Indemnitee
otherwise than under this Agreement. With respect to any such action, suit or proceeding as to which Indemnitee notifies the Corporation of the
commencement thereof:
A. The Corporation or subsidiary will be entitled to participate therein at its own expense; and,
B. Except as otherwise provided below, to the extent that it may wish, the Corporation jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly
notified will be entitled to assume the defense thereof, with counsel satisfactory to Indemnitee. After notice from the Corporation to Indemnitee
of its election so to assume the defense thereof, the Corporation will not be liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement for any legal or other
expenses subsequently incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation or as
otherwise provided below. Indemnitee shall have the right to employ his or her own counsel in such action, suit or proceeding but the fees and
expenses of such counsel incurred after notice from the Corporation of its assumption of the defense thereof shall be at the expense of
Indemnitee unless (1) the employment of counsel by Indemnitee has been authorized by the Corporation in connection with the defense of such
action, (2) Indemnitee shall have reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest between the Corporation and Indemnitee in the
conduct of the defense of such action, or (3) the Corporation shall not in fact have employed counsel to assume the defense of such action, in
each of which cases the fees and expenses of counsel shall be borne by the Corporation (it being understood, however, that the Corporation
shall not be liable for the expenses for more than one counsel for Indemnitee in connection with any action or separate but similar or related
actions in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or

circumstances). The Corporation shall not be entitled to assume the defense of any action, suit or proceeding brought by or on behalf of the
Corporation or as to which Indemnitee shall have made the conclusion provided for in (2) above.
C. Anything in this Article SIXTH to the contrary notwithstanding, the Corporation shall not be liable to indemnify Indemnitee under this
Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of any action or claim effected without its written consent. The Corporation shall not settle any
action or claim in any manner that would impose any penalty or limitation on Indemnitee without Indemnitee’s written consent. Neither the
Corporation nor Indemnitee will unreasonably withhold their consent to any proposed settlement.
SEVENTH: Advancement and Repayment of Expenses . In the event of any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding that may give
rise to a right of indemnification from the Corporation to Indemnitee pursuant to this Agreement, the Corporation shall pay on demand, in
advance of the final disposition thereof expenses, other than (a) those expenses for which Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification pursuant
to Article SIXTH hereof and (b) those expenses for which Indemnitee has been paid under any insurance purchased and maintained by the
Corporation for the benefit of Indemnitee. The Corporation shall make such payments within 20 calendar days upon receipt of (1) a written
request by Indemnitee for payment of such expenses, (2) an undertaking by or on behalf of Indemnitee to repay such amount if it shall
ultimately be determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation hereunder, and (3) satisfactory evidence as to the
amount of such expenses. Indemnitee’s written certification together with a copy of the statement paid or to be paid by Indemnitee shall
constitute satisfactory evidence as to the amount of such expenses.
EIGHTH: Indemnification for Expenses of a Witness . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the maximum extent
permitted by law, Indemnitee shall be entitled to indemnification against all expenses actually and reasonably incurred or suffered by
Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf if Indemnitee appears as a witness or otherwise incurs legal expenses as a result of or related to
Indemnitee’s service as a director or officer of the Corporation in any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, to which Indemnitee neither is, nor is threatened to be made, a party.
NINTH: Enforcement .
A. The Corporation expressly confirms and agrees that it has entered into this Agreement and assumed the obligations imposed on the
Corporation hereby in order to induce Indemnitee to become or continue as an officer or director of the Corporation or any subsidiary and
acknowledges that Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in accepting such position or continuing in such capacity.
B. In the event Indemnitee is required to bring any action to enforce rights or to collect moneys due under this Agreement and is successful
in such action, the Corporation shall reimburse Indemnitee for all costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by Indemnitee in
connection with such action.
TENTH: Indemnification Hereunder Not Exclusive . The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses granted to Indemnitee
under this Agreement shall not be deemed exclusive of, or in limitation of, any rights to which Indemnitee may now or

hereafter be entitled under the State Statute, the Corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws, as now in effect or as may
hereafter be amended, any agreement, any vote of shareholders or directors, or otherwise.
ELEVENTH: Miscellaneous .
A. All communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested; if intended for
the Corporation, shall be addressed to it, attention of its General Counsel, David R. Birk, Esq., at Avnet, Inc., 2211 South 47th Street, Phoenix,
AZ 85034, or at such other address of which the Corporation shall have given notice to Indemnitee in the manner herein provided; and if
intended for Indemnitee shall be addressed to Indemnitee at the address set forth below under his or her signature, or at such other address of
which Indemnitee shall have given notice to the Corporation in the manner herein provided.
B. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the balance of this Agreement shall remain in effect,
and if any provision is inapplicable to any party or circumstances, it shall nevertheless remain applicable to all other parties and circumstances.
C. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and no waiver or
modification of the terms hereof shall be valid unless in writing signed by the party to be charged and only to the extent therein set forth. This
Agreement shall supersede and replace any prior indemnification agreements entered into by and between the Corporation and Indemnitee and
any such prior agreements shall be terminated upon execution of this Agreement.
D. This Agreement shall be binding upon Indemnitee and upon the Corporation, its successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of
Indemnitee, his or her heirs, personal representatives and assigns and to the benefit of the Corporation, its successors and assigns.
E. The captions appearing in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference and in no way define, limit or
describe the scope and intent of this Agreement or any of the provisions hereof.
F. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts made
and to be performed wholly within the State without giving effect to conflict of laws principles thereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement to be effective as of the day and year first above
written.
AVNET, INC.

INDEMNITEE

By:

David R. Birk
Senior Vice President, Secretary
and General Counsel

Address:

Exhibit 10.2
AGREEMENT effective as of July 1, 2004 between AVNET, INC., a New York corporation with a principal place of business at 2211
South 47th Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85034 (“Avnet”) and Steven C. Church, having an office at 2211 South 47th Street, Phoenix, Arizona
85034 (“Church”). This Agreement supersedes and replaces a previous employment agreement between Avnet and Church dated as of July 1,
2002.
WITNESSETH
1. Employment, Salary, Benefits:
1.1 Employment. Avnet agrees to employ Church and Church agrees to accept employment upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
1.2 Term. Church’s employment pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on July 1, 2004 and subject to earlier termination as provided in
Section 2 below, shall continue for a period of one (1) year (until June 30, 2005, the “Initial Term”). Unless Church provides Avnet written
notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term advising Avnet that Church does not intend to renew the Agreement as
hereinafter described, then after June 30, 2005 employment shall continue until terminated by either party provided, however, that the party
desiring to terminate the employment arrangement gives written notice thereof to the other not less than one (1) year prior to the date of actual
termination of employment. By way of example, should Church desire not to renew after the Initial Term, such notice would have to be given
no later than May 31, 2005. Thereafter (if not so terminated by Church at the end of the Initial Term), by way of example, if either Avnet or
Church should desire to terminate the employment on August 15, 2006 such notice would have to be given not later than August 15, 2005.
1.3 Duties. Church is hereby engaged in an executive capacity and shall perform such duties for Avnet, or Avnet’s subsidiaries, divisions and
operating units as may be assigned to him from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer of Avnet. Church is currently engaged as Senior
Vice President and Director of Organizational and Business Development. If Church is elected an officer or a director of Avnet or any
subsidiary or division thereof, he shall serve as such without additional compensation.
1.4 Compensation. For all services to be rendered by Church and for all covenants undertaken by him pursuant to the Agreement, Avnet shall
pay and Church shall accept such compensation (including base salary and incentive compensation) as shall be agreed upon from time to time
between Avnet and Church. In the event Church’s employment hereunder is terminated by the one (1) year notice provided for in Section 1.2
above and Avnet and Church fail to agree upon compensation during all or any portion of the one (1) year notice period prior to termination,
then Church’s compensation (base salary and incentive compensation) during such portion of the notice period shall be equal to the cash
compensation earned by Church during the four completed fiscal quarters preceding the date on which notice is given. Upon such termination
(after a one-year notice) Church shall not be entitled to severance payments under any Avnet severance plan. In the alternative event that at
least 30 days prior to the end of the Initial Term Church

notifies Avnet that he intends not to renew as described in 1.2 above, Church shall effective June 30, 2005 (the end of the Initial Term) revert to
employee at will status (with employment terminable at any time by either Avnet or Church) and the provision in 1.2 above requiring a oneyear notice shall not apply; and upon a subsequent termination of employment, Church shall be entitled if otherwise eligible to payments under
any then-applicable Avnet severance plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, in the event Church’s employment is terminated pursuant
to 2.1, 2.2 or 2.3 below, then the one-year notice provided in 1.2 above shall not be applicable and Church shall not be entitled to any severance
pay benefit.
1.5 Other Compensation on Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, Church shall be entitled to receive only such compensation as
had accrued and was unpaid to the effective date of termination. If the termination occurs other than at the end of a fiscal year of Avnet, the
compensation payable to Church (including base salary and incentive compensation) shall bear the same ratio to a full fiscal year’s
remuneration as the number of days for which Church shall be entitled to remuneration bears to 365 days.
1.6 Additional Benefits. In addition to the compensation described in Subsection 1.4, Church shall be entitled to vacation, insurance, retirement
and other benefits (except for severance pay benefit which the one-year termination notice described above is intended to replace) as are
afforded to personnel of Avnet’s United States based operating units generally and which are in effect from time to time. It is understood that
Avnet does not by reason of this Agreement obligate itself to provide any such benefits to such personnel. Church waives and releases any
claim he has to participate in the Avnet’s Executive Officers’ Supplemental Life Insurance and Retirement Benefits Program (the “Program”).
In consideration of Church’s waiver and release of benefits under the Program, Avnet will provide to Church supplemental retirement and life
insurance as described in Exhibit A hereto, which is incorporated herein by reference.
2. Early Termination.
2.1 Church’s employment hereunder shall terminate, at Church’s option and upon a thirty day written notice to Avnet, in the event that at any
time during the term hereof the Avnet’s current Chief Executive Officer, Roy Vallee vacates, for any reason whatsoever, the position of Chief
Executive Officer.
2.2 Death or Disability. Church’s employment hereunder shall terminate on the date of Church’s death or upon Church suffering mental or
physical injury, illness or incapacity which renders him unable to perform his customary duties hereunder on a full-time basis for a period of
365 substantially consecutive days, on the 365th such day. The opinion of a medical doctor licensed to practice in the State of Arizona (or such
other state wherein Church then resides) and having Board certification in his field of specialization or the receipt of or entitlement of Church
to disability benefits under any policy of insurance provided or made available by Avnet or under Federal Social Security laws, shall be
conclusive evidence of such disability.

2.3 Cause. Church’s employment hereunder may also be terminated by Avnet at any time prior to the expiration of the term hereof without
notice for cause, including, but not limited to, Church’s gross misconduct, breach of any material term of this Agreement, willful breach,
habitual neglect or wanton disregard of his duties, or conviction of any criminal act.
3. Competitive Employment:
3.1 Full time. Church shall devote his full time, best efforts, attention and energies to the business and affairs of Avnet and shall not, during the
term of his employment, be engaged in any other activity which, in the sole judgment of Avnet, will interfere with the performance of his
duties hereunder.
3.2 Non-Competition. While employed by Avnet or any subsidiary, division or operating unit of Avnet, Church shall not, without the written
consent of the Chief Executive Officer of Avnet, directly or indirectly (whether through his spouse, child or parent, other legal entity or
otherwise): own, manage, operate, join, control, participate in, invest in, or otherwise be connected with, in any manner, whether as an officer,
director, employee, partner, investor, shareholder, consultant, lender or otherwise, any business entity which is engaged in, or is in any way
related to or competitive with the business of Avnet, provided, however, notwithstanding the foregoing Church shall not be prohibited from
owning, directly or indirectly, up to 5% of the outstanding equity interests of any company or entity the stock or other equity interests of which
is publicly traded on a national securities exchange or on the NASDAQ over-the-counter market.
3.3 Non-Solicitation. Church further agrees that he will not, at any time while employed by Avnet or any subsidiary, division or operating unit
of Avnet and for a period of one year after the termination of employment with Avnet, without the written consent of an officer authorized to
act in the matter by the Board of Directors of Avnet, directly or indirectly, on Church’s behalf or on behalf of any person or entity, induce or
attempt to induce any employee of Avnet or any subsidiary or affiliate of Avnet (collectively the “Avnet Group”) or any individual who was an
employee of the Avnet Group during the one (1) year prior to the date of such inducement, to leave the employ of the Avnet Group or to
become employed by any person other than members of the Avnet Group or offer or provide employment to any such employee.
4. Definitions:
The words and phrases set forth below shall have the meanings as indicated:
4.1 Confidential Information. That confidential business information of Avnet, whether or not discovered, developed, or known by Church as a
consequence of his employment with Avnet. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Confidential Information shall include
information concerning customer identity, needs, buying practices and patterns, sales and management techniques, employee effectiveness and
compensation

information, supply and inventory techniques, manufacturing processes and techniques, product design and configuration, market strategies,
profit and loss information, sources of supply, product cost, gross margins, credit and other sales terms and conditions. Confidential
Information shall also include, but not be limited to, information contained in Avnet’s manuals, memoranda, price lists, computer programs
(such as inventory control, billing, collection, etc.) and records, whether or not designated, legended or otherwise identified by Avnet as
Confidential Information.
4.2 Developments. Those inventions, discoveries, improvements, advances, methods, practices and techniques, concepts and ideas, whether or
not patentabIe, relating to Avnet’s present and prospective activities and products.
5. Developments, Confidential Information and Related Materials:
5.1 Assignment of Developments. Any and all Developments developed by Church (acting alone or in conjunction with others) during the
period of Church’s employment hereunder shall be conclusively presumed to have been created for or on behalf of Avnet (or Avnet’s
subsidiary or affiliate for which Church is working) as part of Church’s obligations to Avnet hereunder. Such Developments shall be the
property of and belong to Avnet (or Avnet’s subsidiary or affiliate for which Church is working) without the payment of consideration therefor
in addition to Church’s compensation hereunder, and Church hereby transfers, assigns and conveys all of Church’s right, title and interest in
any such Developments to Avnet (or Avnet’s subsidiary or affiliate for which Church is working) and agrees to execute and deliver any
documents that Avnet deems necessary to effect such transfer on the demand of Avnet.
5.2 Restrictions on Use and Disclosure. Church agrees not to use or disclose at any time after the date hereof, except with the prior written
consent of an officer authorized to act in the matter by the Board of Directors of Avnet, any Confidential Information which is or was obtained
or acquired by Church while in the employ of Avnet or any subsidiary or affiliate of Avnet, provided, however, that this provision shall not
preclude Church from (i) the use or disclosure of such information which presently is known generally to the public or which subsequently
comes into the public domain, other than by way of disclosure in violation of this Agreement or in any other unauthorized fashion, or
(ii) disclosure of such information required by law or court order, provided that prior to such disclosure required by law or court order Church
will have given Avnet three (3) business days’ written notice (or, if disclosure is required to be made in less than three (3) business days, then
such notice shall be given as promptly as practicable after determination that disclosure may be required) of the nature of the law or order
requiring disclosure and the disclosure to be made in accordance therewith.
5.3 Return of Documents. Upon termination of Church’s employment with Avnet, Church shall forthwith deliver to the Chief Executive
Officer of Avnet all documents, customer lists and related documents, price and procedure manuals and guides, catalogs, records, notebooks
and similar repositories of or containing Confidential Information

and/or Developments, including all copies then in his possession or control whether prepared by him or others.
6. Miscellaneous:
6.1 Consent to Arbitration. Except for the equitable relief provisions set forth in Section 6.2 below, Avnet and Church agree to arbitrate any
controversy or claim arising out of this Agreement or otherwise relating to Church’s employment or the termination of employment or this
Agreement, in accordance with the provisions of the Mutual Agreement to Arbitrate Claims, a copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit B.
6.2 Equitable Relief. Church acknowledges that any material breach of any of the provisions of Sections 3 and/or 5 would entail irreparable
injury to Avnet’s goodwill and jeopardize Avnet’s competitive position in the marketplace or Confidential Information, or both, and that in
addition to Avnet’s other remedies, Church consents and Avnet shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to an injunction issued by any court of
competent jurisdiction restraining any breach of Church and/or those with whom Church is acting in concert and to other equitable relief to
prevent any such actual, intended or likely breach.
6.3 Survival. The provisions of Sections 3.2, 3.3, 4, 5, and 6 shall survive the termination of Church’s employment hereunder.
6.4 Interpretation. If any court of competent jurisdiction or duly constituted arbitration panel shall refuse to enforce any or all of the provisions
hereof because they are more extensive (whether as to geographic scope, duration, activity, subject or otherwise) than is reasonable, it is
expressly understood and agreed that such provisions shall not be void, but that for the purpose of such proceedings and in such jurisdiction,
the restrictions contained herein shall be deemed reduced or limited to the extent necessary to permit enforcement of such provisions.
6.5 Succession. This Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon Church, his legal representatives, heirs and distributees and upon Avnet,
its successors and assigns.
6.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Exhibits hereto contain the entire agreement of the parties with respect to their subject matter
and no waiver, modification or change of any provisions hereof shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the parties against whom such
claimed waiver, modification or change is sought to be enforced.
6.7 Waiver of Breach. The waiver of any breach of any term or condition of this Agreement shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of any
other term or condition of this Agreement.
6.8 Notices. All notices pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by registered or certified mail, or the equivalent,
return receipt requested, addressed

to the parties hereto at the addresses set forth above, or to such address as may hereafter be specified by notice in writing in the same manner
by any party or parties.
6.9

Headings. Except for the headings in Section 4, the headings of the sections and subsections are inserted for convenience only and shall
not be deemed to constitute a part hereof or to affect the meaning thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, parties have executed this Agreement effective as of the day and year first above written.
AVNET, INC.
By

/s/ Roy Vallee

Title Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Steven C. Church
STEVEN C. CHURCH

Exhibit A
Steven C. Church
Supplemental Life Insurance and Retirement Benefits
Supplemental Life Insurance
In the event of Church’s death while actively employed by Avnet as an Officer, a death benefit will be paid to his designated beneficiary. The
death benefit will be based upon the Church’s Death Benefit Earnings (as defined herein). In order to fund such death benefit payments and/or
other retirement or disability payments to Church or his designated beneficiary, Avnet may purchase a life insurance contract on Church’s life
and, if it does, will pay all premiums, interest and surcharges on said contract. As required by law, Church will be taxed on the “economic
benefit” of such insurance coverage each year by way of imputed income being added to Church’s taxable compensation based on the P.S. 58
cost as indicated on the IRS provided table or the insurance carrier’s term insurance table (“Imputed Income”).
Avnet will retain all the rights of ownership on any policies of insurance it elects to take on Church’s life including the right to borrow against
that portion of the cash values attributable to the premiums paid by Avnet. Avnet has the right to require Church to assist in applying for the
insurance policy(ies), including requiring Church to submit to a physical examination. Failure by Church to assist the Company in obtaining
such life insurance may result in Church’s forfeiting his benefits pursuant to this Exhibit.
Any dividends on such insurance policies may be used by Avnet to purchase additional paid-up insurance on Church’s life.
Death Benefit Amount
In the event of Church’s death while actively employed by Avnet as an Officer, Avnet will take whatever action is necessary to ensure that the
proceeds of the policy(ies) payable to Church’s designated beneficiary will be equal to two times the amount of Church’s Death Benefit
Earnings (as defined below). The balance, if any, of the proceeds payable under the policy(ies) shall be paid to Avnet.
Death Benefit Earnings shall mean the total of Church’s base pay and cash incentive compensation for the full Avnet fiscal year ending on the
day of or preceding Church’s death. For example, the Death Benefit Earnings used to calculate the death benefit should Church die during (but
before the last day of) Avnet’s fiscal year endin g in 2005 (July 4, 2004 — July 2, 2005) is the total of his base pay and cash incentive earned
(accrued not paid) during Avnet’s fiscal year ending on July 3, 2004.
Termination of Employment
Upon termination of employment, life insurance coverage will cease and Church will not

have an option to purchase the life insurance policy(ies) which Avnet may have obtained on his life. Accordingly, if Church dies after
termination of employment with Avnet, there will not be any supplemental life insurance payment upon his death.
Supplemental Retirement and Disability Benefits
If at the time of termination Church has at least 25 years of service with Avnet and has served as an Executive Officer for at least 10 years, the
annual pension benefit payable at age 65 will equal the maximum benefit of 36% of Covered Compensation regardless of age.
Covered Compensation
The amount of retirement benefits will be based upon Church’s Covered Compensation as of his termination of employment with Avnet.
Covered Compensation is equal to Church’s Eligible Compensation for Avnet’s fiscal years 1999 and 2000. Eligible Compensation is the sum
of base pay plus cash incentive earned (accrued not paid) during the fiscal year.
Years of Service
A Year of Service is credited to Church for each full year that he has worked for Avnet (based on his anniversary date of hire).
Normal Retirement Benefits
Church will be entitled to receive a monthly pension payment commencing on the first of the month coincident with or next following his
attainment of age 65 or termination of employment, whichever is later. These payments will be for 10 years (120 monthly payments). In the
event Church should die after termination of employment (at which time the life insurance coverage will cease) and before receiving all
120 monthly benefit payments, the remaining monthly payments (or all of the 120 monthly payments should he or she die before retirement
payments begin) will be paid to Church’s designated beneficiary. However, no pension payments will be made to a beneficiary if Church dies
before terminating employment with Avnet, because the supplemental life insurance will be paid as the death benefit.
The annual benefit (to be paid in 12 equal monthly installments at the beginning of each month) payable at age 65 will be determined by the
following formula:

*Age + Years of Service at termination X 36% of Covered Compensation
80
*Age + years of service ÷ 80 cannot exceed 1 (one)
For example, if Church had at least 5 years of service as an Officer at an age 55 and had 20 Years of Service on the date he terminated
employment with Avnet he would receive a benefit commencing at age 65 equal to 33.75% of Covered Compensation (age 55 + 20 Years of
Service = 75 + 80 X 36% = 33.75%).
Early Retirement Benefits
Church will be entitled to receive a monthly pension payment commencing on the first of the month coincident with, or any month following,
his termination of employment after attainment of age 60. These payments will be for 10 years (120 monthly payments). In the event Church
should die after termination of employment and before receiving all 120 monthly benefit payments, the remaining monthly payments (or all of
the 120 monthly payments should he die before retirement payments begin) will be paid to the Church’s designated beneficiary. (As mentioned
above, the life insurance coverage will cease upon Church’s termination of employment.) The annual benefit payable under the Early
Retirement option will be equal to a percentage of the Normal Retirement Benefit; such percentage will be based upon Church’s age at the time
he elects to receive an Early Retirement Benefit. The percentage will be equal to 100% less 0.25% for each month (3.00% per year) below age
65 that the Participant elects to begin receiving pension benefits. By way of example, a selected list of percentages is as follows:
Age at Commencement
of Benefit
Payments

60
61
61 years 5 months
62
63
63 years 9 months
64
65

% of Normal
Retirement
Benefit

85.00%
88.00%
89.25%
91.00%
94.00%
96.25%
97.00%
100.00%

For example, if Church terminated employment with Avnet at age 58 and upon reaching age 62 1/2 he elected to begin receiving benefits, the
benefit to be paid in this example is 92.5% (30 months prior to age 65 X 0.25% = 7.5%; 100% - 7.5% = 92.5%) of his or her Normal
Retirement Benefit.
Lump Sum Options

If Church has terminated employment with Avnet and is currently receiving pension benefit payments, or has elected to defer such payments,
he will have the option to receive a lump sum payment at any time after attaining age 70. Church may elect to initially receive monthly
payments and to receive the present value of any remaining payments in a lump sum at any time after attaining age 70. A lump sum election
must be made at least one year before Church’s retirement date and, once made, the election is irrevocable. Such lump sum payments will be
equal to the present value of the remaining payments due to Church using a 7% annual discount rate.
Distribution of Retirement Benefits
Church will be entitled to receive his Normal Retirement or Early Retirement pension payments, as applicable, effective as of the first day of
the month following his Normal Retirement or Early Retirement date. However, the actual payment will not be made until Church makes a
written request to the Company, and the Company approves the distribution. If this request occurs after Church’s Normal Retirement date,
Church may elect to receive retroactive payments, with interest at a 7% annual rate.
Disability Benefit
If Church (1) satisfies the disability eligibility requirements set forth in the Avnet Pension Plan; (2) terminates employment because of such
disability; (3) has not waived the right to receive the supplemental disability benefit; (4) has not elected the supplemental retirement benefit or
the supplemental early retirement benefit; and (5) has filed for disability under any other Avnet Pension Plan or other Avnet sponsored
disability plan, he will be entitled to an annual supplemental disability benefit equal to 13% of Church’s Death Benefit Earnings.
Such supplemental disability benefit shall be paid by Avnet in 120 equal and consecutive monthly installments commencing on the first day of
the month following the month Church satisfies the disability eligibility requirements set forth in the Avnet Pension Plan. If Church receives
the disability benefit described above, he will no longer be eligible to receive the supplemental retirement benefits described above and the life
insurance coverage described above will cease. In the event Church should die after becoming eligible for disability benefits (at which time the
life insurance coverage will cease) and before receiving all 120 monthly benefit payments, the remaining monthly payments will be paid to the
Church’s designated beneficiary.
Normal Retirement, Early Retirement, or Disability Benefit Guarantees
If Church should die after termination of employment with Avnet, any unpaid installments with respect to Church’s benefit shall continue to be
paid in monthly installments to such person or entity that Church will have designated, in writing and delivered to Avnet, or if no such
designation is in effect upon Church’s death, to his or her spouse or estate (in that order).

None of the benefits provided under this Exhibit are assignable, except as may be specifically required by law.

EXHIBIT B
MUTUAL AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE CLAIMS
I recognize that differences may arise between Avnet, Inc. (“the Company”) and me during or following my employment with Avnet, and
that those differences may or may not be related to my employment. I understand and agree that by entering into this Agreement to Arbitrate
Claims (“Agreement”). I anticipate gaining the benefits of a speedy, impartial dispute-resolution procedure.
Except as provided in this Agreement, the Federal Arbitration Act shall govern the interpretation, enforcement and all proceedings pursuant
to this Agreement. To the extent that the Federal Arbitration Act is inapplicable, applicable state law pertaining to agreements to arbitrate shall
apply.
I understand that any reference in this Agreement to Avnet will be a reference also to all divisions, subsidiaries and affiliates of Avnet.
Additionally, except as otherwise provided herein, any reference to Avnet shall also include all benefit plans; the benefit plans’ sponsors,
fiduciaries, administrators, affiliates; and all successors and assigns of any of them.
CLAIMS COVERED BY THE AGREEMENT
Avnet and I mutually consent to the resolution by arbitration of all claims or controversies (“claims”), whether or not arising out of my
employment (or its termination), that Avnet may have against me or that I may have against Avnet or against its officers, directors, employees
or agents in their capacity as such or otherwise. The claims covered by this Agreement include, but are not limited to, claims for wages or other
compensation due; claims for breach of any contract or covenant (express or implied); tort claims; claims for discrimination and harassment
(including, but not limited to, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion, national origin, age, marital status, medical condition, handicap or
disability); claims for benefits (except where an employee benefit or pension plan specifies that its claims procedure shall culminate in an
arbitration procedure different from this one); and claims for violation of any federal, state, or other governmental law, statute, regulation, or
ordinance, except claims excluded in the section entitled “Claims Not Covered by the Agreement.”
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, both Avnet and I agree that neither of us shall initiate nor prosecute any lawsuit or
administrative action (other than an administrative charge of discrimination) in any way related to any claim covered by this Agreement.
CLAIMS NOT COVERED BY THE AGREEMENT
Claims I may have for workers’ compensation or unemployment compensation benefits are not covered by this Agreement.

Also not covered are claims by Avnet for injunctive and/or other equitable relief including, but not limited to, claims for injunctive and/or
other equitable relief for unfair competition and/or the use and/or unauthorized disclosure of trade secrets or confidential information, as to
which I understand and agree that Avnet may seek and obtain relief from a court of competent jurisdiction.
REQUIRED NOTICE OF ALL CLAIMS AND STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS
Avnet and I agree that the aggrieved party must give written notice of any claim to the other party within one (1) year of the date the
aggrieved party first has knowledge of the event giving rise to the claim; otherwise the claim shall be void and deemed waived even if there is a
federal or state statute of limitations which would have given more time to pursue the claim.
Written notice to Avnet, or its officers, directors, employees or agents, shall be sent to its President at Avnet’s then-current address. I will be
given written notice at the last address recorded in my personnel file.
The written notice shall identify and describe the nature of all claims asserted and the facts upon which such claims are based. The notice
shall be sent to the other party by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested.
DISCOVERY
Each party shall have the right to take the deposition of one individual and any expert witness designated by another party. Each party also
shall have the right to propound requests for production of documents to any party. Additional discovery may be had only where the panel of
arbitrators selected pursuant to this Agreement so orders, upon a showing of substantial need.
At least thirty (30) days before the arbitration, the parties must exchange lists of witnesses, including any expert, and copies of all exhibits
intended to be used at the arbitration.
SUBPOENAS
Each party shall have the right to subpoena witnesses and documents for the arbitration.
ARBITRATION PROCEDURES
Avnet and I agree that, except as provided in this Agreement, any arbitration shall be in accordance with the then-current Model
Employment Arbitration Procedures of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) before a panel of three arbitrators who are licensed to
practice law in the state where the arbitration is to take place (“the Panel”).

The arbitration shall take place in or near the city in which I am or was last employed by Avnet.
The Panel shall apply the substantive law (and the law of remedies, if applicable) of the state in which the claim arose, or federal law, or
both, as applicable to the claim(s) asserted: The Federal Rules of Evidence shall apply. The Panel, and not any federal, state, or local court or
agency, shall have exclusive authority to resolve any dispute relating to the interpretation, applicability, enforceability or formation of this
Agreement, including but not limited to any claim that all or any part of this Agreement is void or voidable. The Panel shall render an award
and opinion in the form typically rendered in labor arbitrations. The arbitration shall be final and binding upon the parties.
The Panel shall have jurisdiction to hear and rule on pre-hearing disputes and is authorized to hold pre-hearing conferences by telephone or
in person, as the Panel deems necessary. The Panel shall have the authority to entertain a motion to dismiss and/or a motion for summary
judgment by any party and shall apply the standards governing such motions under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
Either party, at its expense, may arrange for and pay the cost of a court reporter to provide a stenographic record of proceedings.
ARBITRATION FEES AND COSTS
Avnet and I shall equally share the fees and costs of the Panel. Each party shall pay for its own costs and attorneys’ fees, if any. However, if
any party prevails on a statutory claim that affords the prevailing party attorneys’ fees, or if there is a written agreement providing for fees, the
Panel may award reasonable fees to the prevailing party.
INTERSTATE COMMERCE
I understand and agree that Avnet is engaged in transactions involving interstate commerce and that my employment involves such
commerce.
REQUIREMENTS FOR MODIFICATION OR REVOCATION
This Agreement to arbitrate shall survive the termination of my employment. It can only be revoked or modified by a writing signed by me
and an officer of Avnet, which specifically states an intent to revoke or modify this Agreement.
SOLE AND ENTIRE AGREEMENT
This is the complete agreement of the parties on the subject of arbitration of disputes, except for any arbitration agreement in connection
with any pension or benefit plan. This Agreement supersedes any prior or contemporaneous oral or written understanding on the subject. No
party is relying on any representations, oral or written, on the subject of the

effect, enforceability or meaning of this Agreement, except as specifically set forth in this Agreement.
CONSTRUCTION
If any provision of this Agreement is adjudged to be void or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, such adjudication shall not affect
the validity of the remainder of the Agreement.
CONSIDERATION
The promises by Avnet and by me to arbitrate differences, rather than litigate them before courts or other bodies, provide consideration for
each other.
NOT AN EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Agreement is not, and shall not be construed to create, any contract of employment, express or implied. Nor does this Agreement in
any way alter the “at-will” status of my employment.
VOLUNTARY AGREEMENT
I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT I HAVE CAREFULLY READ THIS AGREEMENT, THAT I UNDERSTAND ITS TERMS, THAT ALL
UNDERSTANDINGS AND AGREEMENTS BETWEEN AVNET AND ME RELATING TO THE SUBJENS COVERED IN THE
AGREEMENT ARE CONTAINED IN IT, AND THAT I HAVE ENTERED INTO THE AGREEMENT VOLUNTARILY AND NOT IN
RELIANCE ON ANY PROMISES OR REPRESENTATIONS BY AVNET OTHER THAN THOSE CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT
ITSELF.
I UNDERSTAND THAT BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT I AM GIVING UP MY RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.

I FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT I HAVE BEEN GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO DISCUSS THIS AGREEMENT WITH MY
PRIVATE LEGAL COUNSEL AND HAVE AVAILED MYSELF OF THAT OPPORTUNITY TO THE EXTENT I WISH TO DO SO.
STEVEN C. CHURCH

AVNET, INC.

/s/ Steven C. Church

By /s/ Roy Vallee
Its Chief Executive Officer

July 24, 2004
Date

July 29, 2004
Date

Exhibit 10.3
CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT
This Change of Control Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made effective as of the 1 st day of July, 2004, between Avnet, Inc., a New York
corporation with its principal place of business at 2211 South 47 th Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85034 Arizona (“Avnet” or “the Company”) and
Steven C. Church (the “Officer”). Avnet and the Officer are collectively referred to in this Agreement as “the Parties.”
WHEREAS, the Officer holds the position of Senior Vice President with the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Parties wish to provide for certain payments to the Officer in the event of a Change of Control of the Company and the
subsequent termination of the Officer’s employment without cause or the Constructive Termination of the Officer’s employment, as those
capitalized terms are defined below;
NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:
1.

Definitions .
(a)

“Change of Control” means the happening of any of the following events:
(i)

the acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act (a
“Person”) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 50% or more
of either (A) the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Company or (B) the combined voting power of the then
outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; provided, however, that the
following transactions shall not constitute a Change of Control under this subsection (i): (w) any transaction that is authorized
by the Board of Directors of the Company as constituted prior to the effective date of the transaction, (x) any acquisition
directly from the Company (excluding an acquisition by virtue of the exercise of a conversion privilege), (y) any acquisition
by the Company, or (z) any acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the
Company or any entity controlled by the Company; or

(ii)

individuals who, as of the effective date hereof, constitute the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Incumbent Board”)
cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director
subsequent to the effective date hereof whose election, or nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders, was
approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be
1

considered as though such individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such
individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of either an actual or threatened election contest (as such terms
are used in Rule 14a-11 of Regulation 14A promulgated under the Exchange Act) or other actual or threatened solicitation of
proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board; or
(iii) Approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company or the sale or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.
(b)

“Constructive Termination” means the happening of any of the following events:
(i)

a material diminution of Officer’s responsibilities, including, without limitation, title and reporting relationship;

(ii)

relocation of the Officer’s office greater than 50 miles from its location as of the effective date of this Agreement without the
consent of the Officer;

(iii) a material reduction in Officer’s compensation and benefits.
(c)
2.

The “Exchange Act” shall mean the 1934 Securities Exchange Act, as amended.

Constructive Termination or Termination after Change of Control . If, within 24 months following a Change of Control, the Company or
its successor terminates Officer’s employment without cause or by Constructive Termination, Officer will be paid, in lieu of any other
rights under any employment agreement between the Officer and the Company, in a lump sum payment, an amount equal to 2.99 times
the sum of (i) the Officer’s annual salary for the year in which such termination occurs and (ii) the Officer’s incentive compensation
equal to the average of such incentive compensation for the highest two of the last five full fiscal years. All unvested stock options shall
accelerate and vest in accordance with the early vesting provisions under the applicable stock option plans and all incentive stock
program shares allocated but not yet delivered will be accelerated so as to be immediately deliverable. Officer shall receive his or her
accrued and unpaid salary and any accrued and unpaid pro rata bonus (assuming target payout) through the date of termination, and
Officer will continue to participate in the medical, dental, life, disability and automobile benefits in which Officer is then participating for
a period of two years from the date of termination.
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3.

Excise Taxes. In the event that Officer is deemed to have received an excess parachute payment (as such term is defined in Section 280G
(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”)) that is subject to excise taxes (“Excise Taxes”) imposed by
Section 4999 of the Code with respect to compensation paid to Officer pursuant to this Agreement, the Company shall make an additional
payment equal to the sum of (i) all Excise Taxes payable by Officer plus (ii) any additional Excise Tax or federal or state income taxes
imposed with respect to such payments.

4.

Miscellaneous . This Agreement replaces and supercedes in its entirety that certain Change of Control Agreement dated July 1, 2002
between Officer and Company. This Agreement modifies any employment agreement between Officer and the Company only with
respect to such terms and conditions that are specifically addressed in this Agreement. All other provisions of any employment agreement
between the Company and Officer shall remain in full force and effect.

AVNET, INC.
By /s/ Raymond Sadowski
Raymond Sadowski
Its: Senior VP and CFO
Officer
/s/ Steve C. Church
Steven C. Church
3

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer of Avnet, Inc., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Avnet, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing equivalent
functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2006
/s/ ROY VALLEE
Roy Vallee
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer of Avnet, Inc., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Avnet, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing equivalent
functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2006
/s/ RAYMOND SADOWSKI
Raymond Sadowski
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
(AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 1, 2006 (the “Report”), I, Roy Vallee, Chief Executive
Officer of Avnet, Inc., (the “Company”) hereby certify that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: May 8, 2006
/s/ ROY VALLEE
Roy Vallee
Chief Executive Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. This certification will not
be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Nor will this certification
be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant
specifically incorporates it by reference.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
(AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 1, 2006 (the “Report”), I, Raymond Sadowski, Chief
Financial Officer of Avnet, Inc., (the “Company”) hereby certify that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: May 8, 2006
/s/ RAYMOND SADOWSKI
Raymond Sadowski
Chief Financial Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. This certification will not
be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Nor will this certification
be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant
specifically incorporates it by reference.

